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1 Introduction 
In this annual report, Statistics Netherlands is looking back on its activities and results in 2015. The 
report describes its statistical and other products created in 2015 and explains changes made to the 
programme. 

Results in 2015 

Statistics Netherlands’ information is of great value to the public sector, politicians, academics, the 
media and enterprises. Statistics Netherlands makes it possible for public debate and decision-
making to be supported by reliable statistical information. In 2015, Statistics Netherlands published 
daily press releases on subjects in line with the public need and was cited as a source over 38 000 
times across the various news sources, including newspapers, internet news pages and broadcast 
news bulletins. All Statistics Netherlands information is available to everyone free of charge on 
www.cbs.nl. During the year, there were more than seven million visits to the website by over three 
million unique visitors. Over 3 000 tweets were sent in 2015 and, on average, Statistics Netherlands 
tweets were viewed 133 000 times per day.  

An example of n innovation in 2015 was the launch of traffic information statistics based entirely on 
‘big data’, providing faster, more up-to-date and detailed outcomes and making Statistics 
Netherlands one of the first statistical organisations in the world to create official traffic statistics 
using big data. 

In November, the Society for Government Management selected Statistics Netherlands as the Best 
Public-sector Organisation of 2015 out of 216 organisations. The award was presented by Minister 
for Education, Culture and Science Mariëtte Bussemaker. The jury praised the way in which Statistics 
Netherlands  focuses on and engages with the public when publishing press releases, so it is better 
able to provide reliable statistical information for public debate and added value for citizens, 
enterprises and other governmental bodies. The jury also admired the expertise of Statistics 
Netherlands and emphasised that the organisation was managing to engage young employees. 

Statistics Netherlands’ financial statements for 2015 show a deficit of €8.2 million, which includes an 
operating loss of €8.7 million and a net positive movement of €0.5 million in the restructuring 
provision.  

In recent years, there has been significant cost cutting imposed by the previous government. In the 
period 2011-15, Statistics Netherlands’ budget was reduced by €37.3 million in connection with the 
government’s financial targets. With the further cuts in the Spring Agreement, this will rise to €41.7 
million in 2018, representing almost a quarter of Statistics Netherlands’ original 2011 budget. These 
savings have been and will be met by improved efficiency, programme reductions and the use of 
equity built up in the past. 

More efficient methods and working processes are absorbing and will continue to absorb much of 
the cuts so that the same results can be achieved with fewer resources. A range of processes are 
being and will be examined and redesigned as necessary. Statistics Netherlands has implemented 
Lean Six Sigma and Lean Operational Management throughout the organisation and ‘scrum’ methods 
are being applied where possible. The Multi-annual Programme also sets out the reductions in the 
statistical programme that are required to meet the targets set by the government and in the Spring 
Agreement. Almost all proposed reductions were achieved in 2014 and the final ones were 
implemented in 2015. Information that is no longer published includes figures on employees living in 
the Netherlands but working abroad, types of savings, consumer credit and overdrafts, links between 
economic trends and the income and wealth of different types of household, changes in purchasing 
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power as a result of life events, investment in knowledge capital, adoptions, divorces, judicial child 
protection, people without health insurance and housing costs.  

At the same time, Statistics Netherlands has started implementing ISO standards in the organisation 
so that, despite all the cuts, the necessary quality can be delivered. Maintaining quality was also 
emphasised in the peer review undertaken at Statistics Netherlands in 2015 in connection with the 
European Statistics Code of Practice. This showed that Statistics Netherlands is highly compliant with 
the principles in the Code and has a well-earned reputation as a professional organisation for 
developing and using innovative and cost-effective methodologies. A point for attention raised in the 
peer review was safeguarding quality in the organisation, for example by certification and better 
reviewing of output quality.  

There was some work on programme renewal in 2015. The Multi-annual Programme identifies the 
themes of business developments, labour market flexibility and household wealth. Further 
improvements to the accessibility and availability of information are another priority. Several 
publications were issued on the theme of labour market flexibility, including the publication by 
Statistics Netherlands and TNO of Dutch labour market dynamics: Focus on flexibility in June. With 
respect to household wealth, progress was made with DNB (the Dutch central bank) in 2015 on 
exchanging data on mortgage lending to make information available on savings built up within 
savings-based and investment-based mortgages. A new version of CBSinuwBuurt was published to 
further enhance the accessibility and availability of local and regional information. The site  provides 
data on over 150 characteristics of neighbourhoods and their inhabitants, from population 
composition to educational level and from the number of supermarkets to the proportion of people 
receiving unemployment benefits.  

In order to further improve accessibility of informationr, Statistics Netherlands introduced web-
based chat in addition to the existing communication channels to answer questions on its data. The 
Statistics Netherlands Corporate News web app, which replaces the paper magazine, presents topical 
weekly articles on new services and products, international developments and events at Statistics 
Netherlands. By the end of 2015, close to 3 900 datasets with almost 15 billion cells were available as 
open data. The new StatLine web app uses open data and focuses particularly on visual presentation 
of information.  

Statistics Netherlands wants to respond more actively to the great need for statistical services from 
the public sector, enterprises and knowledge institutions and so customisedcustomised research and 
offering access to microdata (anonymised personal and business data) were expanded further in 
2015. Section 2 presents some examples of commissioned research performed by Statistics 
Netherlands in 2015. 

Continually  investing in relationships with stakeholders is important for the work and position of 
Statistics Netherlands. As in previous years, Statistics Netherlands used its knowledge and experience 
in 2015 to contribute to specific knowledge exchange through bilateral and multilateral alliances. It 
maintains good relationships with departments, national policy analysis institutions, knowledge 
institutes and enterprises and in 2015, these were further expanded and strengthened. One example 
of this is a covenant with Portbase, the Port of Rotterdam Authority, the Association of Rotterdam 
Shipbrokers and Agents, the Port of Amsterdam and ORAM (the Amsterdam Region Business 
Association) to share maritime transport data between enterprises and the government. In 2015, 
Statistics Netherlands also started visits to structurally intensify its relationship with provinces. 

Outlook 

As well as the targets set by the previous government and the Spring Agreement, Statistics 
Netherlands will face new targets set by the current government in the next few years. These have 
not been included in the charts below. As a result of the earlier austerity measures, only a small part 
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of these new targets can be met from further improvements in efficiency. Since statutory EU 
obligations do not offer flexibility in savings and as the budget is insufficient, choices on the content 
of the non-mandatory statistical programme will be inevitable. The non-mandatory programme 
covers statistics on people receiving benefits (such as unemployment benefits), crime and 
prosecution, private and state pension entitlements, labour market flexibility (such as self-employed 
workers without personnel and labour migration), general welfare, sustainability and sustainable 
development goals, the business cycle and productivity, regional economic statistics, housing stock, 
new orders for architects, early school-leavers, expenditure per diploma, health surveys, household 
wealth (such as mortgage debt), globalisation, population forecasts, fire brigade statistics and 
proximity statistics. Reductions in the non-mandatory statistical programme will affect all users of 
statistics. This can be avoided through alternative financing, but if this cannot be found Statistics 
Netherlands will be forced to scrap a large part of the non-mandatory programme. The Central 
Commission for Statistics will, on a proposal by Statistics Netherlands, decide which statistics in the 
non-mandatory programme Statistics Netherlands will continue to provide. 

 

During 2015, with permission of the Ministry of Economic Affairs, Statistics Netherlands used part of 
its accrued equity to meet the targets set by the previous government and the Spring Agreement and 
its ambitions for the year. As set out in the strategic Multi-annual Programme for 2014-2018, equity 
will also be used in the next few years to achieve certain targets and so Statistics Netherlands’ equity 
will fall to nil by the end of 2017. This excludes the targets set by the current government. The use of 
equity means there is less financial scope for contingencies and extra investment in IT and personnel.  

With respect to the financial situation, there is uncertainty about covering the cost of new statistical 
requirements, for which offsetting funding was always provided in the past in accordance with the 
Explanatory Memorandum to the Statistics Netherlands Act. There is also uncertainty about 
compensation for rising salaries and pension premiums. Furthermore, the financing for non-
mandatory statistics is uncertain, if the targets set by the current government and imposed by the 
Ministry of Economic Affairs have to be met. 
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Over the next few year, Statistics Netherlands will have to invest significantly in ICT, not only to avoid 
continuity and quality risks, but also to further reduce the statistical  burden and the costs. Statistics 
Netherlands’ systems have been upgraded time and again over many years to meet the continually- 
changing circumstances. This ever more complex constellation of systems is now approaching the 
end of its life: management of the systems is precarious and the obsolete systems cannot be adapted 
further. If the modernisation of ICT does not continue, there will be significant risks to the continuity 
of the primary duty of Statistics Netherlands, including interruption of the production of statistics. 
This would mean that statistics such as economic growth, the budget deficit and unemployment 
would be endangered. Renewal of the information infrastructure is, therefore, essential and requires 
major investments.  

Statistics Netherlands called on the Ministry of Economic Affairs to provide additional financing for 
this investment when it submitted its Multi-annual Programme for 2014-2018. As the Ministry has 
decided against making these resources available and as its equity is being fully used up by spending 
cuts, Statistics Netherlands will have to absorb this within its own long-term budget. Priority will be 
given to projects generating additional efficiency, alongside limited improvements required in ICT 
and data collection. A start was made in 2015 on implementing a new strategy for information 
provision and setting up an efficient IT infrastructure for data collection.  

Retaining knowledge within the organisation is a challenge, partly because of the impending outflow 
of employees who will be retiring. This also creates continuity and quality risks. Part of the new 
strategic staff plan is a speedy, targeted inflow of new employees to allow the knowledge and skills 
of Statistics Netherlands staff who will be retiring in the next few years to be transferred in good 
time. In this context there was active recruitment in 2015, which led to an inflow of new staff 
although financial limitations and uncertainties are hindering the recruitment of new employees.  

The cuts are also leading to serious pressure on the innovation and process renewal programme. 
Continuous innovation is vital to meet these challenges. Statistics Netherlands wants to improve the 
quality of the statistics further through innovation with the lowest possible response burden for the 
public and at the lowest possible cost. Innovation is also required to respond to changing public 
requirements. If Statistics Netherlands fails to do this, new methods that could offer major efficiency 
gains and speed in future will virtually cease or be seriously delayed.  

Administrative developments 

Statistics Netherlands is jointly managed by the Director-General and the Central Commission for 
Statistics (CCS). At the end of 2013, the cabinet decided that these two bodies must be reduced to 
one as part of the government-wide review of the repositioning of autonomous administrative 
bodies. The Ministry of Economic Affairs started the legislative process at the end of 2014 and 
introduced the Bill amending the Statistics Netherlands Act to Parliament in 2015. It is expected that 
the legislative procedures for amending the Statistics Netherlands Act will be completed in 2016. 

As prescribed by law, this Annual Report has been approved by the CCS and the financial statements 
have been adopted in agreement with the CCS. 
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2.1 Communication and statistical services 

Statistics Netherlands produces high-quality information for a wide range of users: the public, policy-
makers, academics, media and related target groups. In 2015, Statistics Netherlands published a total 
of 613 daily press releases on subjects in line with the public need. The media often included 
information from Statistics Netherlands in their reporting. Statistics Netherlands was cited as a 
source over 38 000 times across a range of news sources, including newspapers, internet news pages 
and broadcast news bulletins. 

2.1.1 Number of articles/broadcasts citing Statistics Netherlands, monthly totals 2015 

 

2.1.2 Number of national newspaper articles citing Statistics Netherlands by title 2015 
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All Statistics Netherlands’ information is available to everyone free of charge on www.cbs.nl. In 2015, 
there were 7 771 746 visits to the website by 3 714 217 unique visitors. Users can contact the 
Infoservice if they need assistance finding information via the Statistics Netherlands website or 
StatLine or have questions about Eurostat publications. In 2015, it also became possible to chat with 
Statistics Netherlands through the website. 

2.1.3 Total number of visitors (x1.000) to www.cbs.nl per month 2012-2015  

 
Source: Statistics Netherlands 
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2.1.4 Over 28 000 articles citing Statistics Netherlands on websites in 2015 

Total number of articles citing Statistics Netherlands on major news sites, 2015 

 
Source: Statistics Netherlands 
 

Top-10 sites citing Statistics Netherlands (by number) of all sites monitored, 2015 
 

Source: Statistics Netherlands 
 

In 2015, Statistics Netherlands launched the Statistics Netherlands Corporate News web app, which 
presents topical weekly articles on new services and products, international developments and 
events at Statistics Netherlands, to replace its paper magazine. The web app was developed for 
Statistics Netherlands’ external customers and all those interested in news about Statistics 
Netherlands. It is simple to filter and review the articles and they can be shared easily on Facebook, 
Twitter and LinkedIn. 

At the end of 2015, close to 3 900 datasets with almost 15 billion cells were available as open data. 
To improve its services, Statistics Netherlands holds user-sessions twice a year to maintain contact 
with web app and website builders who use its open data. In early 2015, Statistics Netherlands also 
launched a new web app for StatLine that uses open data and focuses particularly on visual 
presentation of information. 

In addition to the normal distribution of news reports, Twitter has become a standard way for 
Statistics Netherlands to distribute day-to-day information. The number of followers of 
@statistiekcbs grew from almost 56 000 in early 2015 to over 107 000 by the end of the year. 3 368 
tweets were sent during 2015 and on average Statistics Netherlands tweets were viewed 133 000 
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times per day. In October 2015, Statistics Netherlands started its own Facebook page 
facebook.com/statistiekcbs, which includes press releases on Statistics Netherlands. 

www.CBSinuwBuurt.nl provides figures on over 150 characteristics of neighbourhoods and their 
inhabitants, from population composition to educational level and from the number of supermarkets 
to the proportion of people receiving unemployment benefits. New functionality and subjects were 
added to www.CBSinuwBuurt.nl in March 2015 and the number of characteristics was increased 
further in December. 

The library has a growing collection of statistical publications and these are included in the on-line 
public catalogue. From 2015, the focus is on expanding national statistical heritage that is being 
digitised under a long-term plan and offered on www.historisch.cbs.nl.

Alliances 

In 2015, Statistics Netherlands used its knowledge and experience to contribute to specific exchanges 
through national and international bilateral and multilateral alliances. For example, Statistics 
Netherlands is working with the Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO), Data 
Archiving and Networked Services (DANS) and universities to create a more resilient National Social 
Sciences Data Infrastructure (NDSW). The objective is to safeguard the long-term social-science data 
collection in the Netherlands. 

In 2015, Statistics Netherlands also started visits to structurally intensify its relationship with 
provinces and these will be continued in 2016. A team of Statistics Netherlands’ subject specialists 
visits the provinces to discuss their main policy issues and how Statistics Netherlands can assist with 
services ranging from StatLine to customised research. 

Statistics Netherlands and DNB continued their alliance on the reconciling macro-economic statistics 
on the relationships between the Netherlands and other countries. In the next two years, there will 
be a joint approach towards full integration of sector accounts and the balance of payments using a 
single process and a mutually agreed observation strategy. DNB is responsible for observations of 
financial institutions and Statistics Netherlands for other domestic sectors. 

In January, a covenant was signed by Portbase, Statistics Netherlands, the Port of Rotterdam 
Authority, the Association of Rotterdam Shipbrokers and Agents, the Port of Amsterdam and ORAM 
(the Amsterdam Region Business Association), which opened the way for sharing data between 
enterprises and the government on marine transport, in line with the Maritime Strategy of the 
Ministry of Infrastructure and the Environment.  

In April, Statistics Netherlands organised a microdata users afternoon in The Hague for 90 external 
researchers in the field of education who use or who have an interest in the microdata files of the 
Centre for Policy-related Statistics. The aim of the meeting was to encourage the exchange of know-
how between researchers and highlight new developments in working with microdata.  

Internationally, Statistics Netherlands collaborated with various statistical institutes in 2015. A multi-
year alliance was set up with the statistical institute of Oman initiated by the Netherlands Enterprise 
Agency, which funded assistance to Oman in 2015. Statistics Netherlands is assisting Oman with 
projects including an analysis of its logistics industry. With funding from the Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs, it is also assisting Rwanda in setting up environmental and capital statistics, with particular 
attention to land and water accounting modules for monitoring ecosystem services in the economy. 
In addition, as part of the exchange of know-how with the statistical institute of South Korea 
(KOSTAT), in 2015 a member of Statistics Netherlands staff undertook research at KOSTAT into the 
success of its training institute. A member of KOSTAT’s staff undertook similar research into IT 
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systems in the Netherlands. Statistics Netherlands also advised the Chinese statistical institute NBS in 
2015 on the follow-up to pilots on the use of VAT data in trade statistics, and information was 
exchanged on setting up research into cross-border online retail statistics, the use of indices and 
research into shopping malls.

Each month, Statistics Netherlands measures prices to calculate consumer price index (CPI) inflation. 
This is being done increasingly efficiently, for example, by using scanner data on sales in stores. 
Statistics Netherlands has been a leader in this for years within Europe and, in September, organised 
an international seminar on scanner data in The Hague with Eurostat (the European statistical 
institute) to share know-how and the latest experiences.  

In November, Statistics Netherlands hosted the 21st meeting of the London Group on Environmental 
Accounting. The London Group consists of international experts on environmental accounts. The 
annual meetings offer a platform to share knowledge on the latest developments in environmental 
accounting. During this year’s meeting there was particular focus on developments in natural capital 
accounting. 

Statistics Netherlands has joined the Inter-agency and Expert Group on Sustainable Development 
Goal Indicators (IAEG-SDGs), which met for the first time in June 2015. This group’s aim is to establish 
a list of indicators for global monitoring of targets set as part of the UN’s post-2015 development 
agenda. Currently there are altogether 229 indicators. The IAEG has 28 members (statistical institutes 
from different parts of the world) and observers, including international organisations such as the 
OECD and the World Bank, are invited to its meetings. The group will also consider how the 
monitoring of SDG indicators should be funded and organised.  

A pilot was undertaken in 2015 in which Statistics Netherlands worked with the statistical institute of 
the German state of North Rhine-Westphalia (IT.NRW) on producing cross-border statistics for Dutch 
and German governmental bodies. This led to an initial exploratory report in August on the labour 
market in the border regions of the Netherlands and North Rhine-Westphalia.  

Statistics Netherlands is involved through the Netherlands Interdisciplinary Demographic Institute 
(NIDI) in an international project on developing an innovative method for measuring segregation. 
This concerns the relative concentration of a specific group of people in a given neighbourhood. This 
is not measured - as is customary - at the level of administratively defined neighbourhoods and 
districts, but by individuals and those who live near them. Statistics Netherlands and NIDI expect that 
this will provide a more detailed picture of segregation without leading to the identification of the 
people involved and will also allow better international comparisons.  

 

2.2 Standard statistical programme 
The standard output is the core of Statistics Netherlands’ work programme. Appendix A has a table 
showing the standard output per theme in 2015. Some developments during the year are set out 
below. 

For many years, Statistics Netherlands has published unemployment and labour force figures based 
on two definitions: the international definition of the International Labour Organization (ILO) and a 
national definition. The national definition was leading  and formed the basis for the Netherlands’ 
official unemployment figures. Since February 2015, Statistics Netherlands has based the main 
indicator for unemployment on the ILO definition. The main difference is the number of hours that a 
person must or wants to work to be part of the working population. Under the international 
definition, this criterion is one hour a week compared with twelve hours a week under the national 
definition. At the same time the figures were revised as the estimation method was improved and 
data collection methods have been modernised and made more efficient. 
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Twintigers, a publication on people in their 20s, appeared in March addressing a range of subjects 
such as education, jobs and relationships. This publication has four articles, an interactive infographic 
and a ‘twintigers test’. Statistics Netherlands compiled it from existing data on this age group. The 
infographic was developed in cooperation with the National Youth Council, which also provided 
interviews that are presented alongside the figures to show the perspectives of people in their 20s. 

The Dutch economy was replaced in 2015 by themed macro-economic articles published during the 
year,  and by The Netherlands in 2014. The Director-General presented The Netherlands in 2014 – an 
economic overview to the Speaker of the House of Representatives in March. This publication 
outlined a full initial picture of the Dutch economy in the previous year.  

The www.onderwijsincijfers.nl website was launched in April, bringing together the strengths of 
Statistics Netherlands, the Ministry of Education, Culture and Science and the Education Executive 
Agency (DUO). The website offers comprehensive facts on education in the Netherlands in a single 
place. This new website includes about 115 key figures and over 400 charts and interactive maps on 
primary, secondary, vocational and academic education. www.onderwijsincijfers.nl is always up-to-
date with the most recent published figures. The paper publications on educational figures from 
Statistics Netherlands and the Ministry of Education, Culture and Science are no longer issued. 

In June, Dutch labour market dynamics: Focus on flexibility was jointly published by Statistics 
Netherlands and TNO. The latest edition offers the reader current information on people’s labour 
market transitions, such as  trends in the amount of flexible and fixed employment and in the 
number of self-employed professionals in the labour market. As well as research by Statistics 
Netherlands and TNO, the publication includes analytical contributions by external researchers with 
their own data and expertise in labour market flexibility.  

From 2015 onwards, Statistics Netherlands has made detailed raw data on local government finances 
available through its own open data facility, so they have become available faster and in a more 
accessible format. This contributes to transparency of official information (the open government 
action plan of the Ministry of the Interior and Kingdom Relations).  

In September, Statistics Netherlands issued new fire brigade statistics based entirely on incident 
room data. The new statistics, now published quarterly rather than annually, provide much more 
detail than the old ones; for example, figures are now available on the number of calls dealt with by 
the incident room. This statistic shows how often the fire brigade actually turns out after a call and 
can now be published at the level of the 25 safety regions in the Netherlands.  

Dutch quality of life, a publication that highlights all facets of the phenomenon of quality of life and 
reports welfare and prosperity indicators, was also published in September.  

Thanks to new counting techniques, Statistics Netherlands can now reliably identify up to 420 types 
of animal. Almost all the data needed for wildlife statistics are collected by volunteers. In the past, 
this had to be done by expert volunteers, but a new statistical method developed by Statistics 
Netherlands now makes it possible for the official statistics to be updated by volunteers using 
databases on the internet. Statistics Netherlands publishes all new figures on nature and the 
environment in the Environmental Data Compendium. This year WNF Nederland published a Living 
Planet Index on the Netherlands as a pilot, using Statistics Netherlands data. 

In December, Director-General Tjark Tjin-A-Tsoi presented Poverty and social exclusion 2015 to the 
State Secretary for Social Affairs and Employment. This new publication highlights the part of the 
Dutch population lagging behind in terms of prosperity and sociallife. Poverty is presented in a wide 
social context: not only the income of households and people are addressed but also their spending, 
wealth, social engagement, housing, health and involvement as a victim or perpetrator of crimes.  
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In 2015, Statistics Netherlands developed and published the Quarterly monitor of government 
finances  describing a number of developments in government finances in a cohesive overview.  

The issue of the 2013 production statistics (PS), providing a view of employment in and the financial 
performance of each business sector, was accelerated by two months in 2015 so that definitive 
figures were available within 16 months. A further acceleration of the 2014 production statistics was 
achieved in 2015 and this is an important condition for National Accounts being able to accelerate its 
cycle by one year. 

Since September 2014, National Accounts has prepared an overview at the end of each month of the 
business cycle figures available that month. This summary is related to the business cycle tracer 
indicator (the unweighted average of the 15  indicators in the business cycle tracer). This is a new 
figure. The monthly report is also linked to the individual business cycle news releases. Further 
detailing of the StatLine publication Business cycle by branch of industry will be completed during the 
first half of 2016. 

More detailed price information on the food chain became available in 2015 as part of a European 
project commissioned by Eurostat. 

As of 2015, Statistics Netherlands and the Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency (PBL) have 
changed the frequency and timing of various forecasts. This allows Statistics Netherlands to allocate 
work on the different forecasts more evenly across years, further raise the quality level of all 
forecasts and respond better to wishes of users to have forecast figures available at a particular time 
of the year. The frequency of Statistics Netherlands’ national forecasts of the number of households 
and population by origin, and the regional population and household forecasts by Statistics 
Netherlands and the PBL has been reduced from once every two years to once every three years. 

In 2015, the alliances with the two other partners in the payroll tax chain (the Tax and Customs 
Administration and the Employee Insurance Agency) and users, quality checks on the information 
from the payroll tax chain were upgradedd. 

 

2.3 Commissioned statistical research  
In 2015, Statistics Netherlands again undertook a number of large research projects commissioned 
by various (public sector) organisations, some of which are set out below. 

In January, the Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport and the Association of Netherlands 
Municipalities signed an agreement with Statistics Netherlands on access to policy information within 
the social domain. The social domain monitor has been developed by and for municipalities and 
presents policy information suitable for municipal horizontal accountability. The Ministry of Health, 
Welfare and Sport uses this policy information to obtain a countrywide insight into policy effects. The 
results are shown via a dashboard on the website waarstaatjegemeente.nl.

Since 1 January 2015, municipalities have been responsible for youth services, child protection and 
juvenile rehabilitation under the new Youth Act and so it is important that they have high quality 
policy information on these matters. The Ministries of Health, Welfare and Sport and of Security and 
Justice also need policy information to monitor the operation of the new system for young people. 
Statistics Netherlands has been asked to issue figures on youth services in April and October each 
year. The first provisional results were available on 31 July. 

The National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM) is undertaking the Lifestyle 
monitor project for the Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport. Statistics Netherlands is working on 
this project with the RIVM and other lifestyle institutes with the aim of coordinating monitoring and 



Statistics Netherlands Annual Report for 2015 – 23 March 2016  14 

increasing efficiency and quality. Statistics Netherlands collects key lifestyle data for this project in 
the Health Survey each year and has used a new lifestyle survey since 2015.  

In 2015, Statistics Netherlands expanded its services to enterprises on www.ondernemersplein.nl.
Increasingly customised information is being offered on industries, regions and business events, such 
as starting a business, employing people and trading internationally. Joint reports on goods imports 
and exports are drawn up with the Tax and Customs Administration and partners in the Netherlands 
Business Survey (COEN). Statistics Netherlands’ data on this subject have come from its open data 
channel since mid-2015. 

Statistics Netherlands ensured that a lot of information on small and medium-sized enterprises was 
structurally available as part of the SME and Enterprise and State of SMEs programmes in 2015. This 
did not only include macro-economic indicators, such as production and added value, but also more 
social features, such as educational level. This information is accessible via a core publication and a 
new website www.staatvanhetmkb.nl, which also presents the initial results on business cycle 
information at SME level. 

Commissioned by the National Coordinator for Groningen, Statistics Netherlands has researched 
developments in the marketability and prices of houses in the area around the Groningen gas field. 
This research was published for the first time in the final quarter of 2015.  

A three-year research programme commissioned by the Ministry of Economic Affairs was concluded 
with the publication of ICT and economic growth in June. The research was designed to identify the 
determinants of productivity and economic growth with particular attention to the role of ICT. The 
report includes studies at industry and enterprise level.  

In 2015, Statistics Netherlands worked with Wageningen University on the ecosystem accounting 
project for Limburg Province, commissioned by the Ministries of Economic Affairs and Infrastructure 
and of the Environment. Ecosystem accounting describes ecosystem services and conditions within 
an accounting system using methods, concepts and definitions in line with the system of National 
Accounts and environmental accounting. This research shows that it would be very well possible to 
develop ecosystem accounting for the whole of the Netherlands. 

The second edition of the National Energy Outlook 2015 as prepared by Energy Research Centre of 
the Netherlands (ECN), the PBL and Statistics Netherlands, with contributions by the Netherlands 
Enterprise Agency (RVO), appeared in October. The Outlook identifies the state of energy 
management in the Netherlands and is important for monitoring the energy transition of the 
Netherlands (Energy Agreement). Statistics Netherlands’ contribution consisted of delivering and 
describing actual physical and monetary energy data.  

The Dutch Working Conditions Survey (NEA) is a large-scale survey of employees in the Netherlands. 
In 2014, Statistics Netherlands and TNO conducted the tenth NEA with and commissioned by the 
Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment. A summary of the first results of the NEA 2014 was 
published in May.  

The initial results of the Employment Survey for Self-employed Workers appeared in June. This 
research into the employment position of self-employed workers in the Netherlands, conducted 
jointly by TNO and Statistics Netherlands, was commissioned by the Ministry of Social Affairs and 
Employment. 

Statistics Netherlands was awarded a European grant for research into linking data on the web to 
geographical coordinates (location-finding for the subject to which the data relate). 
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2.4 New European obligations in 2015 

The European statistical work programme 2015 includes EU targets on employment, innovation, 
education, social cohesion and climate and energy. As in earlier years, the plans for 2015 were 
ambitious. In 2015, Statistics Netherlands worked to meet the new European obligations. 

• Member States are required to prepare and publish their national accounts according to a new 
European Regulation (ESR2010). This means that Statistics Netherlands temporarily had to 
recalculate the national accounts figures for Gross National Income (GNI), the main basis for the 
returns by the Member States to the European Commission, from ESR2010 to ESR1995. 

• Trade credits are included when calculating national debt. The definition of national debt has 
been revised and the quality of the data on trade credits has been further improved. There has 
also been work on completing the government register: a register of all government bodies. 
Statistics Netherlands will finalise this in 2016. 

• The quality reports to Eurostat have to be improved to raise the quality of the statistics provided 
to the European Union. In that context, Statistics Netherlands has started developing a clear 
quality report for all mandatory European statistics, a central database to store relevant 
information on this and to check and maintain the quality reports. At the request of the 
Commission, research has also been done into the background to developments in the indicators, 
and the Dutch indicators are published on StatLine. 

• The statistics available on population figures have been adjusted to the European criterion of 
registration in the Municipal Personal Records Database, specific groups who are not in the 
Municipal Personal Records Database have been identified and new registrations are obtained 
and analysed. 

• A new European Privacy Regulation is expected to come into force in 2016. Anticipating this 
Regulation, Statistics Netherlands in 2015 checked whether it met the European requirements. 
The check showed that Statistics Netherlands is prepared for the coming changes. 

In previous years, Statistics Netherlands has submitted claims for meeting new European 
Regulations. Up to and including 2015, Statistics Netherlands received financial resources for this 
from the Ministry of Economic Affairs. The Ministry has not yet decided on reimbursement as of 
2016 of the costs for some remaining projects under new requirements from 2014, 2015 and 2016. 
The costs of meeting these EU requirements for which the financial resources have not yet been 
received has been funded in advance by Statistics Netherlands. Statistics Netherlands assumes that 
the costs for 2016 and later years will be remitted speedily in accordance with the Explanatory 
Memorandum to the Statistics Netherlands Act. The costs of the new requirements from 2013 (€0.2 
million) shall not be remunerated. 

 

2.5 Programme renewal 
The Multi-annual Programme for 2014-2018 identifies three main themes for programme renewal: 
business developments, labour market flexibility and household wealth. Other priorities include 
further improvements to the accessibility and availability of information.  

Within the business developments theme, figures on recent developments in globalisation have been 
published in four quarterly editions of the Internationalisation Monitor (Dutch editions). The edition 
in the first quarter described the work the Netherlands is doing in parts of the global value chains 
and its effects on production, trade and economic growth. The edition on innovation analysed 
innovation as a driver of economic growth and welfare. The third edition addressed the role of 
multinationals in the Dutch economy in terms of turnover, international trade and employment. 
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Sustainability was the fourth theme of the Internationalisation Monitor. In 2015, base tables were 
supplied on the business characteristics of enterprises dealing with international trade in goods and 
services and in both (integrated). 

Several publications were issued within the labour market flexibility theme including, in June, the 
Dutch labour market dynamics: Focus on flexibility, prepared jointlywith TNO. In addition, the four 
definitions and operationalisations of the term “self-employed” used by Statistics Netherlands were 
aligned and five new StatLine tables on labour market flexibility appeared. The test questions on 
payrolling developed in 2015 will be added to the Workforce Survey and evaluated in 2016.  

With respect to household wealth, new or better data became available in 2015 on student debt and 
loans, the tax term ‘substantial interest’ and other information on the wealth of self-employed 
people, including director/major shareholders. Arrangements were made with DNB on exchanging 
mortgage lending data,so as to make available information on savings built up within savings-based 
and investment-based mortgages. A start has also been made on a new structure for the existing 
statistics on transfers of personal wealth (legacies and inheritance). A new StatLine table on wealth 
by region has been published and presented in various press releases. 

A new version of www.CBSinuwBuurt.nl is available to further enhance the accessibility and 
availability of regional (sub-provincial) information. A new file of variables at postcode-6 level is 
available and several interactive maps have been added to Statistics Netherlands publications. 
Statistics Netherlands’ metadata in the National Georegister can now be found on the open data 
channel www.data.overheid.nl.

Statistics Netherlands has drawn up new guidelines for the classification of municipal districts and 
neighbourhoods in coordination with various municipalities. 

 

2.6 Programme reductions 
The Multi-annual Programme for 2014-2018 lists the cuts in the programme, alongside measures to 
improve efficiency, required to meet the financial targets set by the previous government. The 
frequency of some statistics, including budget research, statistics on the hotel and restaurant sector 
and educational cohorts, has been reduced from 2014. In addition, reports on road transport, 
productivity and the knowledge economy, research and development, innovation and foreign trade 
in energy have been less detailed since 2014. Other statistics have been dropped entirely since 2014. 
Information that is no longer published includes figures on employees living in the Netherlands but 
working abroad, types of savings, consumer credit and overdrafts, links between economic trends 
and the income and wealth of different types of household, changes in purchasing power as a result 
of life events, investment in knowledge capital, adoptions, divorces and judicial child protection, 
people without health insurance and housing costs.  

Almost all proposed reductions were achieved in 2014 and the final ones were implemented in 2015. 
For example, the level of detail in statistics on municipal budgets (functional classification) was 
reduced in 2015. It was also decided to publish fewer processed data, including budget information 
such as financial statements, from municipalities at an individual level with effect from 2016. In their 
place, raw data (known as Iv3, information for third parties) have been made available as open data 
since 2015. 

Some statistics have been continued with alternative financing: 

- The level of detail in the innovation survey was to have been reduced once every two years, but 
the higher level of detail was maintained in 2014 for a commission by the Ministry of Economic 
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Affairs. If the financing is not continued in coming years, the level of detail in the following edition 
will be reduced. 

- Under an EU requirement, information is still available on the use of social media by the public 
sector and enterprises, but it is more limited and partly co-financed by Eurostat. 

- The National Survivor's Benefits Act (Anw)statistics have been discontinued. Monthly information 
on benefits under the Act (based on data from the Sociale Verzekeringsbank SVB) is being 
continued on a commission from the Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment. Information on 
recipients of benefits under the Act and supplementary analyses can only be provided on paid 
commissions. 

- The work on educational cohorts up to and including the 1999 cohort is being continued on a 
commission by the Netherlands Initiative for Education Research (NRO). 

- The non-asylum part of Administrative law statistics was discontinued from 2014. This will still be 
undertaken for the statistical years 2013-2015 as statistical research commissioned by the Council 
for the Judiciary.  
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3 Innovation and research 

3.1 Innovation and efficiency 

Statistics Netherlands is working hard on innovation and process renewal so that it can continue to 
provide high quality statistical information now and in the future. As a result, it can continue to 
improve and modernise its services at lower cost for society. Innovation also contributes to reducing 
the administrative burden for enterprises. 

The innovation programme supplements the standard research programme set out in the following 
section. The aim is to enhance the innovative strength of Statistics Netherlands by encouraging and 
supporting promising ideas. Unlike the research programme, which is largely focused on theoretical 
research, the innovation programme concentrates on short-term practical experiments that are 
designed to be a proof of concept. Statistics Netherlands searches for alliances with other countries’ 
statistical institutes, universities, enterprises and government bodies when setting up and 
performing innovative projects. 

Statistics Netherlands is developing new statistical products in line with the information 
requirements of users and the way they receive the information. An example of this is the availability 
of municipal and provincial financial information via the Statistics Netherlands open data channel.  

There is also innovation in data collection and the use of new sources of data. Statistics Netherlands 
now uses bots for price observations to collate publicly available information on the internet. 
Another example is the Price Watch app, a generic mobile phone app for physical observation of 
prices in stores that will be offered to other European national institutes in 2016.  

Statistics Netherlands is researching estimating the number of people in a given area in a given 
period during the day (the ‘daytime population’) from mobile phone data. This information can be 
used for updating or supplementing some tourism statistics, among other things. Further research is, 
however, necessary before information based on these data can be published. 

2015 saw the launch of traffic information statistics based entirely on big data, providing faster, more 
up-to-date and detailed outcomes and making Statistics Netherlands one of the first statistical 
organisations in the world to create official traffic statistics using big data. 

There were active efforts to enhance alliances with universities and universities of applied sciences in 
2015. Detailed agreements have been reached and contracts have been entered into with a range of 
institutions, including an umbrella agreement with Utrecht University, Maastricht University and the 
University of Twente (UT). Statistics Netherlands has also instituted two new chairs, of Registration 
and Statistics of Causes of Death at the Academic Medical Centre Amsterdam of the University of 
Amsterdam and of Register Analyses of Life Course Dynamics at the University of Amsterdam. A 
specific event resulting from an alliance was the first Statistics Netherlands and UT Data Camp, when 
statisticians from Statistics Netherlands and UT PhD students, led by experienced researchers, 
worked for a week on big data issues. 

New agreements were also reached on alliances with the Netherlands Society for Statistics and 
Operations Research, leading to a joint video on the importance of sound statistical information 
(https://www.youtube/fRoKnABqAL0) to mark World Statistics Day in October.  

Statistics Netherlands has explored whether statistics can be produced more quickly and ad-hoc 
customer questions can be answered faster by using IBM hardware and software. A covenant was 
signed with TNO in April, making it easier to participate in each other’s innovation projects. 
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In August, Statistics Netherlands took part in a hackathon on the theme of citizen power organised 
by the Municipality of Zwolle and Data Science Amsterdam. The aim was to use data to answer the 
question of how old people could acceptably live longer in their homes. In a hackathon, innovative 
data applications can be used to combine strengths and respond to social developments. 

To meet the huge financial targets set by the previous government and the Spring Agreement, 
Statistics Netherlands is working very hard on measures to achieve additional efficiency. The Lean Six 
Sigma method was introduced in 2014 to make small-scale improvements in processes to achieve a 
more structured approach to efficiency. Eight employees have now been trained to Black Belt level, 
60 to Green Belt and over 200 to Orange Belt. Between them they have carried out over a hundred 
improvement projects. 

The processing and related IT systems for a range of social and economic statistics were modernised 
in 2015, making the greatest possible use of standard processes and reusing previously developed IT 
systems. 

 

3.2 Research programme 

Some of the results of the 2015 research programme are set out below. Statistics Netherlands is 
working actively on alliances with universities for the research programme. One example is the 
Biolink project in which Statistics Netherlands and a consortium of universities have undertaken 
research into the probabilistic linking of health data. 

Statistics Netherlands focuses mainly on the internet for primary observations. A lot of attention is 
being given to measures to raise responses, such as the use of suitable advance letters and 
incentives. Experiments have provided insight into what a successful advance letter is for different 
sub-groups. Large differences are seen among the various  sub-groups .  

Research into intelligent internet robots has led to their use in observing dynamic websites. Research 
into interpreting the structure of websites for automatic recognition of prices and products is 
proceeding steadily and, as noted above, is now in use. Following research into gathering background 
characteristics by linking Twitter accounts to LinkedIn accounts, an age distribution of the Twitter-
LinkedIn population has bceen created from the education information in LinkedIn profiles. 

Research was successfully concluded into the effect of classification errors in the accuracy of 
quarterly revenue estimates (strata) in the car trade.  

A number of articles were published in a special edition of the Journal of Official Statistics on 
coverage issues. These were a paper on sensitivity to assumptions in the capture-recapture method 
and a paper on the sensitivity of estimates to classification errors. In addition, there was consultation 
with foreign statistical institutes as part of the ‘usual residents’ project, which aims to discover 
whether it is possible to make regular estimates of the under- and over-coverage in the population 
register. 

Finally, research was completed into robust estimation methods for situations in which observations 
are only available for a selective set of units. For example, time series models with information from 
enterprises that submit monthly VAT returns are being combined with those that submit quarterly 
VAT returns to make a monthly turnover  estimate for industries in commercial services.  
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4 Operations 
4.1 Human resources 
Staff profile 

At the end of 2015, Statistics Netherlands had 2 036 employees. In 2015, the average operational 
workforce barely changed from 1 777 FTEs at the end of 2014 to 1 780 a year later. Sixty-one percent 
of the employees were 50 years of age or older. A year earlier this figure was 62%. The trend of a 
rising average age of employees seems to have levelled off and even slightly turned around. This is 
also shown by the trend in the average age, which was 50.7 at the end of 2014, but had fallen to 50.4 
at the end of 2015. It is expected that a total of about 300 (or roughly one in seven) employees will 
leave Statistics Netherlands between 2016 and 2020 as they reach the state retirement age. In view 
of this outflow and taking account of the increasing tightness of the labour market, Statistics 
Netherlands actively recruited new employees in the past year, which explains the fall in the average 
age. 

 

4.1.1 Number of employees by age group 

 

4.1.2 Expected outflow (number) 

 

The increasing complexity and further automation of statistical processes are contributing to the 
decline in the amount of semi-skilled and unskilled work and the increasing need for more highly 
educated staff. This is reflected in the composition of the workforce by job grade. In 2015, 77% of 
staff were in scale 9 or above. By comparison, the proportion in 1995 was only 50%. 
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4.1.3 Employees by job level (%) 

 

Development and mobility 

Statistics Netherlands requires a workforce now and in the future whose quality and quantity are in 
line with its duties and strategy. To ensure this, a personnel plan was drawn up in 2015 in line with 
Statistics Netherlands’ strategic agenda. A number of HR priorities were listed that will be finalised in 
2016. These include strengthening leadership skills and renewing the HR review cycle with more 
feedback and dialogue between employees and management. Another priority is focus on a speedy, 
targeted inflow of new employees to allow the knowledge and skills of Statistics Netherlands staff 
who will be retiring in the next few years to be transferred. As noted above, in this context, there 
was active recruitment in 2015, which led to an inflow of new staff. Action was also taken to reduce 
sickness absence and avoid unnecessary hiring of temporary staff.  

Statistics Netherlands aspires to be an attractive employer paying great attention to the optimal 
deployment of staff. Elements of this include offering its staff interesting and challenging work, with 
attractive terms of employment, mobility and career and personal development opportunities. 
Consequently, promoting internal mobility and enhancing employability and flexibility of employees 
were important areas again in 2015. Employees can use various mobility-enhancing services and 
tools, such as exploratory interviews with a mobility consultant, career orientation, a mobility 
process and a development process. A start was made on a programme of measures to comply with 
the Participation Act. 

Working conditions 

Statistics Netherlands started using the non-allotted workspaces concept in 2014, since when 0.9 of a 
workplace has been available per FTE. In 2015, various scenarios were developed to consider a 
possible working environment at Statistics Netherlands in the future, more closely in line with the 
new ways of working. The ground floor has been remodelled to convert almost unused office space 
into a special working space for Statistics Netherlands Communication and News. This makes it 
possible to dispose of office space elsewhere in the building.  

The reduction of sickness absence is part of Statistics Netherlands’ strategic personnel plan. Lively 
and healthy employees in a good working environment ensure better operating results and less 
absence. In 2015, a start was made on phasing in self-steering employability, which puts the 
emphasis on what employees can do and not on their disability. Employees and supervisors are also 
in control and have responsibility for tackling sickness absence. At the end of 2015, about a quarter 
of Statistics Netherlands approached sickness absence using this model and the remainder of the 
organisation will follow in 2016. In 2015, sickness absence was 4.7% (moving 12-month figure) (2014: 
4.6%) and so remains at its lowest level since the early 1990s. 
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In June 2015, a Health Day was held for field interviewers with the aim of letting employees test 
specific health issues, get insight into certain significant health risks and create awareness of health. 

Statistics Netherlands again received Top Employer in the Netherlands certification in 2015. Each 
year the Top Employer Institute examines working conditions and employment terms and assesses 
the conditions that employers create for their employees. Once again, Statistics Netherlands met the 
requirements and received the award, which recognises Top Employers as reliable and solid 
employers with an excellent HRM policy. This assessment is based on research into employment 
terms, opportunities for internal mobility, working conditions and opportunities for training. 

Employee participation 

Statistics Netherlands attaches great importance to employee participation. Topics discussed in the 
meetings between the Director General and the Works Council in 2015 included the 2016 efficiency 
targets for Statistics Netherlands and their consequences for the organisation, the proposed changes 
to the main structure of Statistics Netherlands from 1 January 2016 and the revision of the HR review 
cycle. There were collective bargaining talks between management and unions about HR priorities 
and the main structure of Statistics Netherlands. 

Corporate social responsibility 

Statistics Netherlands encourages corporate social responsibility where possible and implemented 
new energy saving measures in 2015. The lighting in the car park is controlled by motion sensors, and 
a start was made on replacing halogen lamps by energy-efficient LED lighting. The air conditioning is 
checked throughout for unnecessary energy use and adjusted as necessary.  

CO2 emissions from using natural gas were fully offset by international Gold Standard certificates and 
only green electricity was used in 2015.  

Statistics Netherlands considers corporate social responsibility when procuring goods and services. 
For example, a contract was entered into with a party that organises official travel abroad on the 
principle that the CO2 emissions each journey causes are offset. Statistics Netherlands also meets the 
tendering standards of the RVO, for example, on energy consumed by hot drinks machines and the 
environmental aspects of printing. 

 

4.2 Risk management and quality assurance 
As part of the risk management process, Statistics Netherlands re-examined its risks during 2014 and 
reassessed them in 2015, looking in particular at their relationship with the targets in the strategic 
agenda and the Multi-annual Programme for 2014-2018. It was concluded that certain things 
previously seen as risks are now ‘in control’, but a number of risks still require attention. 

Budget reductions 

Considerable cuts have been implemented in recent years. Between 2011 and 2015, the budget was 
reduced by €37.2 million under the financial targets set by the previous government and €4.4 million 
under the Spring Agreement. To meet these targets, the frequency or level of detail of some statistics 
has been reduced since 2014. Other statistics have been dropped entirely since 2014. Statistics 
Netherlands will have to achieve further annual efficiency savings of 2.7% (€3.5 million) until 2018. 
This requires a major effort by the organisation, and so Statistics Netherlands has implemented Lean 
Six Sigma and Lean Operational Management throughout the organisation and ‘scrum’ methods are 
being applied where possible. This involves employees being trained in these techniques and 
undertaking projects. Equity accrued in the past is also being drawn down. 
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At the same time, Statistics Netherlands has started implementing ISO standards throughout the 
organisation, so that the necessary quality can still be delivered despite the cuts. As Statistics 
Netherlands has a large amount of privacy-sensitive information, it has to invest continuously in 
information security. 

Additional investment in process renewal is required in the period to 2018 to ensure the continuity 
and efficiency of primary processes such as data collection and ICT in future. Statistics Netherlands 
called on the Ministry of Economic Affairs to provide additional financing when it submitted its Multi-
annual Programme for 2014-2018. As the Ministry has decided against making these resources 
available, Statistics Netherlands will have to absorb this within its own long-term budget. Priority will 
be given to projects generating additional efficiency, alongside limited improvements required in ICT 
and data collection. The cuts are leading to a sharp reduction in the innovation and process renewal 
programme, which in practice means that new methods (such as big data techniques), which could 
offer major efficiency gains and speed in future, will virtually cease or be seriously delayed.  

A number of jobs have been lost to meet the targets. To avoid redundancies, in 2014 Statistics 
Netherlands designated ‘from work to work’ (VWNW) candidates who can use the mobility tools 
offered by this government-wide scheme. Statistics Netherlands has to meet the cost of this (some 
€1 million in 2015) from its own budget, while, previously, the government-wide costs were offset 
through the Staff Compensation Policy. As a result, it was and is still not possible to recruit sufficient 
new employees to make up for the outflow, so that there is the threat of a loss of knowledge and 
risks to continuity and quality. 

Financial uncertainty 

As well as the targets set by the previous government and the Spring Agreement, Statistics 
Netherlands will face new targets set by the current government in the next few years. These have 
not been included in the charts below. As a result of the earlier austerity measures, only a small part 
of these new targets can be met through further improvements in efficiency. Since statutory EU 
obligations do not offer flexibility in savings and as the budget is insufficient, choices on the content 
of the non-mandatory statistical programme will be inevitable. The non-mandatory programme 
covers statistics on people receiving benefits (such as unemployment benefits), crime and 
prosecution, private and state pension entitlements, labour market flexibility (such as self-employed 
workers without personnel and labour migration), general welfare, sustainability and sustainable 
development goals, the business cycle and productivity, regional economic statistics, housing stock, 
new orders for architects, early school-leavers, expenditure per diploma, health surveys, household 
wealth (such as mortgage debt), globalisation, population forecasts, fire brigade statistics and 
proximity statistics. Reductions in the non-mandatory statistical programme will affect all users of 
statistics. This can be avoided through alternative financing, but if this cannot be found, Statistics 
Netherlands will be forced to abandon a large part of the non-mandatory programme. The CCS will, 
on a proposal by Statistics Netherlands, decide which statistics in the non-mandatory programme 
Statistics Netherlands will continue to provide. 
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During 2015, with permission of the Ministry of Economic Affairs, Statistics Netherlands used part of 
its accrued equity to meet the targets set by the previous government and the Spring Agreement and 
its ambitions for the year. As set out in the strategic Multi-annual Programme for 2014-2018, 
Statistics Netherlands will use its equity during the next few years to achieve certain targets and so 
equity will fall to nil by the end of 2017. This excludes the targets set by the current government. The 
use of equity means there is less financial scope for setbacks and extra investment in IT and 
personnel.  

With respect to the financial situation, there is uncertainty about covering the cost of new statistical 
requirements, for which offsetting funding was always provided in the past in accordance with the 
Explanatory Memorandum to the Statistics Netherlands Act. There is also uncertainty about 
compensation for rising salaries and pension premiums. Furthermore, the financing for non-
mandatory statistics is uncertain if the targets set by the current government and imposed by the 
Ministry of Economic Affairs have to be met. 

 

IT environment 

A significant precondition for a sound statistical process and reliable operations is the continuity of 
the IT infrastructure, including the hardware, corresponding software and computer centre. 
Structural improvements are always needed to meet ever-changing circumstances and requirements. 
Two major projects have been started in the past two years to ensure the future availability of the 
generic IT infrastructure. The computer centres have been relocated, with updated equipment, and 
the software platform for the workstations and the servers were upgraded. 

An IT strategy was adopted in 2015, so that Statistics Netherlands can grow in the next few years into 
an organisation with state-of-the-art data and information infrastructure publishing statistical 
information at its heart. This strategy permits flexibility of IT infrastructure services and uses the 
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latest technologies such as ‘high performance computing’: complex calculations with large quantities 
of data using supercomputers and advanced software. The strategy also forms the basis for more 
flexible application architecture that allows software differentiation. In addition, major maintenance 
of business-critical and management-intensive applications started in 2016. 

Quality assurance 

Statistical processes are a complex mixture of IT, statistical methodology and human action. This 
involves risks that may necessitate correction of published figures. Quality has constant attention at 
Statistics Netherlands and within the European statistical system. Statistics Netherlands has 
integrated national and international frameworks as well as frameworks it has itself adopted into the 
Quality Guidelines. A criterion for the quality programme is demonstrating that Statistics Netherlands 
works with awareness of quality. A key element of this is ensuring that production processes are 
structurally evaluated with the aim of listing opportunities and avoiding errors being repeated. 
Consequently, in 2015 it was decided to introduce ISO 9001:2015 throughout Statistics Netherlands. 
This focuses on improving and ensuring quality, and, in addition, Statistics Netherlands is acting on 
one of the recommendations of the peer review in 2015 performed in connection with the European 
Statistics Code of Practice, which reads, “Statistics Netherlands should take measures to embed more 
deeply its quality management […] throughout the organisation and consider also the adoption of 
recognised industry certification systems.”  

The peer review also recommended greater emphasis on providing a view of the quality of its 
statistical outputs. A project was started and completed in 2015 for ISO certification of working 
processes at  the departments of the Centre for Policy-related Statistics, which carry out customised 
research commissioned by customers. 

Ageing workforce 

In the next few years, a considerable number of Statistics Netherlands’ older employees will be 
retiring while the inflow of new employees is under pressure as a result of cost cutting. This may lead 
to statistical professionals and potential managers, IT specialists and project leaders not having all 
the required competencies. The strategic staff plan has identified the discrepancy between the 
necessary competences and those that are available. This has been followed by appropriate action, 
looking not only at the numbers of employees but also their level and ability to develop. Statistics 
Netherlands is continuing its policy of asserting itself as a modern and attractive employer, which 
also responds to the recommendation on this point in the peer review. 2015 saw active recruitment 
that led to an inflow of staff. 

Information security 

Statistics Netherlands has substantial quantities of confidential data in its possession and data 
security is vital. People, enterprises and institutions that entrust their data to Statistics Netherlands 
must be able to rely on this information remaining confidential. Under the Statistics Netherlands Act, 
the data may be used only for statistical purposes, and Statistics Netherlands is required to put in 
place technical and organisational facilities to secure these data. To this end, Statistics Netherlands 
has created the positions of security officer and data protection officer. The security officer advises 
management on specific measures to improve information security and ensures Statistics 
Netherlands’ compliance with relevant legislation and regulations. The data protection officer 
supervises the protection of data about persons, enterprises and institutions on behalf of the DG 
Statistics Netherlands.  

Statistics Netherlands has high internal standards for the quality of information security. The main 
provisions of the information security policy were reasserted in 2014, and a roadmap was drawn up 
in 2015. These documents state that Statistics Netherlands wishes to be compliant with the Civil 
Service Baseline Information Security, a set of standards for general information security measures 
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for all relevant parts of operations. A privacy audit based on the standards of the Dutch Data 
Protection Authority was concluded successfully in 2015, ensuring that Statistics Netherlands 
continues to meet the strictest data protection standards. The scope of the research covered the 
Social Statistical Data System, one of Statistics Netherlands’ key databases.  

 

4.3 Performance indicators 
Reduction of response burden 

For some twenty years, Statistics Netherlands has been working hard to reduce the actual and 
perceived response burden among enterprises. The measured administrative response burden has 
fallen strongly as a result, by 70% in the period 1994-2014. 

The reduction of response burden performance indicator is based on the definitive response burden 
for a calendar year in money terms and specifies that the response burden must not increase relative 
to the previous year. 

A new system for measuring the response burden was introduced in 2014, and it is now calculated in 
the same way for all statistics. As Statistics Netherlands now receives information on the response 
burden directly from central logistics systems, more detail is available and more comprehensive 
analysis is possible, and this has led to an upward adjustment of the time series for response burden 
of €0.6 million. 

The completion time of surveys for some statistics has been reassessed as the statistics have recently 
been amended. Statistics Netherlands is reluctant to ask repeatedly for times required to complete 
surveys as this can be seen by respondents as an additional burden. Subsequent measurement of the 
time required to complete questionnaires for production statistics showed that the effect of 
inputting an electronic questionnaire had been overestimated, and this has led to an upward 
adjustment of the time series of an average of €1.5 million in the period 2009-2013. 

Neither adjustment has consequences for meeting the reduction target for the administrative 
response burden: the reduction since 2009 is almost unchanged. 

The reporting burden attributable to Statistics Netherlands for 2015 is not yet known. The reporting 
burden for 2014 fell by €1.7 million to €19 million, mainly as a result of an increase in the threshold 
for the International Trade in Goods (IHG) statistics, meaning that fewer enterprises have to make a 
return. The business census was ended in 2014 due to the use of other administrative sources. 

The reduction target that Statistics Netherlands has committed to has led to several other measures, 
in particular for the IHG statistics. As well as raising the observation threshold, Statistics Netherlands 
redesigned the survey. Since 2015, enterprises have been able to submit their data in IDEP (Intrastat 
Data-entry Package), a user-friendly online application, and many are now doing so. In addition, 
about half of importers and exporters have been making annual rather than monthly returns since 
2015. The effect on the reporting burden will be presented in the Annual Report for 2016. 

Where requests still have to be made, this is increasingly being done digitally. Written observations 
for the producer price indices for goods and services were replaced by digital observations in 2015. 

Statistics Netherlands is making more and better use of information already available to the 
government and at enterprises. As noted above, Statistics Netherlands has largely moved to the use 
of enterprises’ scanner data and internet observations rather than store observations for the 
consumer price index. Although the actual response burden of this research was already limited, 
enterprises see this as a notable improvement. 
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Statistics Netherlands seeks other ways to make participating in its surveys as convenient as possible. 
Examples of this are the Reference Ledger System (RGS) and the Standard Business Reporting (SBR) 
programme. The combination of RGS and SBR will let enterprises meet their internal and external 
reporting requirements in future without complicated conversion of their financial records. 

Partly to reduce the perceived response burden, Statistics Netherlands is working further on making 
relevant statistical information accessible to enterprises. To this end Statistics Netherlands has 
developed new monitors for different industries. These are being increasingly used and are also 
available via www.ondernemersplein.nl.

The reductions achieved in recent years mean that the limit is being reached. Statistics Netherlands 
still needs information from enterprises in order to continue processing high-quality statistics. A 
further reduction in the response burden will have a high price, including less accurate figures and 
larger adjustments. Statistics Netherlands is, however, working on further reducing the actual and 
perceived regulatory burden through further innovation and agreement with enterprises where 
possible, although European Union requirements may lead to an increase in the response burden. 
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Non-financial performance indicators

Name and description Target for 2015 2015 outturn 2014 outturn 2013 outturn 2012 outturn 2011 outturn

Publication calendar – press releases
Proportion of press releases published on the planned date.

At least 90% of planned press releases must
be released on the planned publication date.

100% 100% 99% 94% 94%

Publication calendar – compulsory deliveries to Eurostat
Proportion of deliveries to Eurostat made on the planned date.

At least 90% of data deliveries to Eurostat
must be made on the planned date.

97% 96% 91% 90% 93%

Number of formal corrections to publications
Number of press releases corrected or replaced with another press
release.

A maximum of three press releases a year. 1
press release

0
press releases

0
press releases

0
press releases

1
press release

Discrepancies between provisional and definitive figures –
economic growth

The number of times the final quarterly economic growth figures
for a year differs by more than 0.75 percentage points from the
flash estimates for the quarters of that year.

The discrepancy for at least three quarters of
a year must be less than 0.75 percentage
points.

(reference year 2012)

satisfactory
(4 quarters OK)

(reference year 2011)

satisfactory
(4 quarters OK)

(reference year 2010)

satisfactory
(4 quarters OK)

(reference year 2009)

satisfactory
(4 quarters OK)

(reference year 2008)

satisfactory
(4 quarters OK)

Discrepancies between provisional and definitive figures –
international trade

The number of discrepancies of more than 4% between the
provisional and definitive figures of the components of the six-
week version of the monthly international trade figures.

At least 80% of the differences must be less
than 4%.

(reference year 2014)

100%

(reference year 2013)

100%

(reference year 2012)

96%

(reference year 2011)

88%

(reference year 2010)

98%

Discrepancies between provisional and definitive figures –
population growth

Subindicator, annual figure: the absolute discrepancy of the sum of
the provisional monthly population growth figures from the
definitive annual figure.
Subindicator, monthly figures: the number of times the definitive
population growth figures for the months of the previous calendar
year differs by more than 4 000 from the provisional figures.

Accumulated over 12 months, the
discrepancy must be no greater than 16 000.

For at least 8 of the 12 months, the
discrepancy in the monthly figure must be
less than 4 000.

(reference year 2014)

satisfactory
(annual total: 1 420;

all months
discrepancy <4 000)

(reference year 2013)

satisfactory
(annual total: 1 514;

all months
discrepancy <4 000)

(reference year 2012)

satisfactory
(annual total: 1 550;

all months
discrepancy <4 000)

(reference year 2011)

satisfactory
(annual total: 4 446

all months
discrepancy <4 000)

(reference year 2010)

satisfactory
(annual total: 820

all months
discrepancy <4 000)

Reduction of response burden

The outcome of the annual response burden measurement with
the ‘Response Burden Meter’ (EDM).

The response burden for the business sector
must be no greater in 2014 than in 2013 and
will be reduced as much as possible in line
with the reduction target for 2015 of
between 20% and 30% (reference year 2009).

Satisfactory

Definitive figure
2014:

€19 million

Satisfactory
Definitive figure

2013: €21 million

Satisfactory Satisfactory Satisfactory
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4.4 External accounting model 

The accounting model allocates the total full cost for 2015 of €187.8 million (excluding restructuring 
expenses) to the activities for compiling statistical datasets and the publication of statistical 
information for each theme. The model also specifies the costs of presenting Statistics Netherlands’ 
figures on the website and StatLine, the costs of the Centre for Policy Statistics supplying customised 
information for research and policy and the costs of Blaise Survey Software, which is used for 
generating questionnaires. 

The table below gives the results for 2015, distinguishing between costs for the standard statistical 
year programme and costs for products on request. 

 

Demand-driven
Costs per product group Fixed programme (paid work and Total
(in mln euro) (budget EZ) (other revenue)
Statistical databases 30.6 0.4 31.0

Labour and social security 10.1 4.7 14.8
Enterprises 16.2 0.9 17.1
Population 4.9 2.3 7.2
Construction and housing 3.4 0.1 3.5
Financial and business services 2.5 0.1 2.6
Health care and welfare 5.8 3.1 8.9
Trade, hotels and restaurants 2.8 0.0 2.8
Manufacturing and energy 5.0 0.0 5.0
Income and spending 2.6 0.5 3.1
International trade 7.9 0.0 7.9
Agriculture 1.2 0.3 1.5
Macroeconomics 14.5 0.5 15.0
Nature and environment 3.7 2.1 5.8
Education 2.9 0.4 3.3
Government and politics 8.5 0.2 8.7
Prices 10.4 0.6 11.0
Security and Justice 3.3 0.1 3.4
Traffic and transport 6.4 0.2 6.6
Leisure and culture 2.1 0.7 2.8
Dossiers (cross-theme) 8.5 1.0 9.5

Presentatation CBS data 7.2 0.0 7.2

Centre for Policy-related statistics 0.0 6.1 6.1
Blaise 0.0 3.0 3.0

Total 160.5 27.3 187.8
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The table below shows a number of key financial indicators for Statistics Netherlands for recent years.  

 

The programme for the statistical year remained constant until end of 2013, but since 2014 there has 
been a contraction of the non-mandatory statistical programme as a number of statistics have been 
curtailed or ended while new European obligations have been added (total approximately €8 million). 
In the period from 2009 to 2015, labour costs (wages, salaries, pension charges and social security 
contributions) decreased because of lower staff numbers (2009: 2 140 FTEs, 2015: 1 780 FTEs). 
However, labour costs per FTE rose in the same period as a result of collective agreements in 2009, 
2010 and 2015 and higher pension contributions. 

Despite price rises, such as the VAT increase from 19% to 21% in 2012, other operating expenses fell in 
the period from 2009 to 2015 as a consequence of the policy of restraint and further retrenchment. 

On balance, the total cost of the statistical programme fell from €184.9 million in 2009 to €156.2 
million in 2015. Adjusted for wage and price rises (in total approximately 9% in the period from 2009 
to 2015), total costs fell to €143.1 million in 2015. 

Key figures 2009-2015
(in mln euro)

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Wages and salaries 113.0 112.9 110.0 106.8 104.4 101.7 103.7
Pension charges and social security contributions 25.1 26.0 26.2 27.7 28.5 28.1 26.4
Insourced staff 16.0 15.6 11.8 11.0 11.7 8.5 12.1
Other operating expenses 1 41.0 39.0 39.3 39.1 39.4 36.9 39.2
Depreciations 2 9.4 12.5 9.1 9.3 9.3 7.4 6.4
Demand-driven costs -17.9 -21.4 -22.0 -25.0 -22.3 -22.9 -27.3
Costs statistical programme 186.6 184.6 174.4 168.9 171.0 159.7 160.5
Additional costs for EU programme from 2009 onwards -1.7 -2.4 -4.3 -4.3 -7.1 -7.2 -8.3
Cost cuts due to reduction statistical programme 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.0 4.0
Costs of statistical programme excluding EU programme extension and reduction of the regular programme184.9 182.2 170.1 164.6 163.9 156.5 156.2
EU programme and reduction regular programme

Price increase relative to the previous year 3,80% 0,30% 0,60% 2,00% 0,60% 1,60%

Costs statistical programme excluding programme extension
EU programme adjusted for price rises 184.9 175.5 163.4 157.2 153.4 145.6 143.1

Average number of FTEs 2140 2059 1964 1875 1833 1777 1780
Wage costs per FTE x € 1.000 64.5 67.5 69.3 71.7 72.5 73.0 73.1

*excluding correction for one-off reservation large debtor in 2010 and 2011 (€ 1.3 million)
** excluding annual contribution stepped-up ICT programme € 3.4 million (2009-2011)
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5 Financial statements for 2015 
The result of Statistics Netherlands for 2015 came to EUR 8.2 million negative. This result consists of 
the operating result of EUR 8.7 million negative plus the net change in the restructuring provisions of 
EUR 0.5 million positive. The result for 2015 is EUR 1.1 million more positive than budgeted in the 
multi-annual budget. 

The financial statements and the notes thereto are included further below in this annual report. The 
financial statements were audited by KPMG Accountants N.V., which has issued an independent 
auditor's report. The latter is included below the financial statements. 
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Income statement for 2015 
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Cash flow statement for 2015 
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Notes to the financial statements for 2015 

General 

Statistics Netherlands, with offices in The Hague, Heerlen and Bonaire, is an autonomous 
administrative body (Zelfstandig Bestuursorgaan (ZBO)). Its duties, authorities and working method are 
laid down in the Act on Statistics Netherlands (CBS-wet). 

Statistics Netherlands is tasked by the Dutch central government with conducting statistical research 
and publishing the resulting aggregated statistics for the purposes of practical, policy-related and 
scientific uses.  

Statistics Netherlands is jointly managed by the Director-General and the Central Commission for 
Statistics (CCS). 

The financial statements of Statistics Netherlands are drawn up in accordance with the Autonomous 
Administrative Bodies Framework Act (Kaderwet ZBO), the Act on Statistics Netherlands, and other 
agreements made concerning the financial statements (some of which are laid down in 'management 
agreements'). The financial statements of Statistics Netherlands are prepared in accordance with the 
aforementioned framework and, where possible, based on the same rules as apply under Title 9, Book 
2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Regarding implementing the Act on Remuneration of Senior Officials in the 
Public and Semi-public Sector (WNT), Statistics Netherlands has complied with the policy rules on the 
application of this Act. 

The financial statements relate to the financial year 2015, which ended on 31 December 2015. The 
financial statements are presented in euros, which is the functional currency of Statistics Netherlands. 
All financial information in euros has been rounded to the nearest thousand. The financial statements 
have been prepared based on the going-concern assumption.



Statistics Netherlands Annual Report for 2015 – 23 March 2016 37 

Accounting policies 

The principles for the valuation of assets and liabilities and determining the result are based on the 
historical cost convention. Unless stated otherwise, the amounts presented in the financial statements 
are in thousands of euros.  

An asset is recognised on the balance sheet when it is probable that the associated future economic 
benefits will flow to the entity and the value of the asset can be determined reliably. A liability is 
recognised on the balance sheet when it is probable that its settlement will result in an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits and the amount at which the settlement will take place can 
be determined reliably. If a transaction relating to a recognised asset or liability does not lead to a 
significant change in the economic substance of the asset or liability, the relevant asset or liability is 
not derecognised. An asset or liability must be derecognised if a transaction results in the transfer to a 
third party of all or substantially all economic benefits and all or substantially all the risks associated 
with that asset or liability. An asset or liability is also derecognised when it no longer meets the 
requirements of probability of the future economic benefits and/or its value can no longer be 
determined reliably. 

Income is recognised on the income statement when an increase in future economic benefits related 
to an increase in an asset or a decrease in a liability has arisen that can be determined reliably. 
Expenses are recognised when a decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset 
or an increase in a liability has arisen that can be determined reliably. Income and expenses are 
attributed to the period to which they relate and losses are recognised as soon as they are 
foreseeable.  

Given the inherent uncertainties in the activities of Statistics Netherlands, the amounts of certain 
items in the financial statements cannot be precisely determined. For such items, estimates are used. 
Estimates of the amounts of items involve judgements that are based on the available relevant 
information. Estimates are required, for example, to determine the amounts of provisions and the 
useful lives of tangible fixed assets. Actual outcomes may differ from these estimates. Making 
reasonable estimates is an important aspect of the preparation of the financial statements. The 
estimates and underlying assumptions are periodically assessed. Revisions of estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised and in the future periods affected by the revision.  

 

Assets 

Non-current assets 

Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less cumulative depreciation and any impairment losses. Cost 
comprises the cost of acquisition or manufacture and additional costs incurred in bringing the assets to 
their location and in the condition required for their intended use. 

Depreciation is calculated as a percentage of the cost of acquisition according to the straight-line 
method on the basis of the asset's useful life. The depreciation period for each asset category is shown 
in the table below.  
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Non-current assets Depreciation period 

New-build (modifications of building 
shell) 

10 years 

IT resources 3-5 years 

Plant and equipment 10 years 

Other fixed operating assets 5 years 

At each balance sheet date, tangible fixed assets are tested for impairment. If evidence of impairment 
is found, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
the value in use and the realisable value. If it is impossible to determine the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is 
determined. 

If the carrying amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) exceeds the recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recognised equal to the difference between the carrying amount and the 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses on a cash-generating unit are allocated to the carrying 
amounts of the assets in the unit on a pro-rata basis. 

In addition, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each balance sheet date for 
any indications that the impairment loss has decreased.  

Disposal of non-current assets 

Assets available for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amount and net realisable value. 

Financial fixed assets 

Financial fixed assets are stated at the lower of their amortised cost and market value. Write-downs to 
lower fair value are recognised on the income statement. Financial assets stated at amortised cost are 
tested at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. 
 

Current assets 

Receivables 

The accounting policies for receivables are described in the 'Financial instruments' section. 

The item 'contracts yet to be billed' included under receivables concerns the portion of the paid 
contracted work yet to be billed based on the progress of work at year-end. The portion of the paid 
work under these contracts that has been billed in advance is included under other liabilities in the 
item 'turnover billed in advance'.  
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Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at nominal value. Unless stated otherwise, cash and cash 
equivalents are at the free disposal of Statistics Netherlands. 

Financial instruments 

After initial recognition, receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment losses. After initial recognition, non-current and current liabilities and other 
financial commitments are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Evidence of impairment of financial assets is considered both at the level of individual assets and on a 
collective basis. All individually significant financial assets are specifically tested for impairment.  

Impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses are recognised on the income statement.  

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount is presented on the balance 
sheet if the entity has a sound legal instrument to settle the financial asset or financial instrument on a 
net basis and the entity has the firm intention to settle the balance as such on a net basis or 
simultaneously.  

Equity and liabilities 

Provisions 

A provision is recognised if: 
• the entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; and  
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation; and  
• if it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation. 

The provisions for restructuring, unemployment benefits and long-service awards are stated at 
nominal value based on best estimates of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
relevant obligations and losses.  

The provision for long-service awards represents the estimated present value of the future long-
service awards. The calculation is based on the commitments made, the likelihood of the staff 
concerned remaining, and their age. 

Employee benefits  

Employee benefits are recognised as an expense on the income statement in the period in which the 
service is rendered or, if the relevant employee benefits have not yet been paid out, as a liability on 
the balance sheet. If the amounts paid out exceed the employee benefits payable, the surplus is 
recognised under prepayments and accrued income to the extent that the amounts will be repaid by 
the relevant employees or settled against future payments by the entity. 

The liability in respect of benefits payable during the period of service is stated at the nominal value of 
the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.  

If employee benefits are paid that do not result in the accrual of benefits (such as continuing wage 
payments during sickness or work incapacity), the expected expenses are accounted for in the period 
in which these benefits are payable. A provision for long-term sickness benefits is recognised for any 
obligation at the balance sheet date to continue paying employee benefits to employees who are 



Statistics Netherlands Annual Report for 2015 – 23 March 2016 40 

expected to be unable to perform part or all of their work due to sickness or work incapacity. The 
provision is stated at the best estimate of the amounts expected to be required to settle the relevant 
obligation at the balance sheet date. This best estimate is based on the contractual agreements with 
the employees (collective agreement (CAO) and individual employment contracts). Additions to and 
releases of provisions are debited and credited, respectively, to the income statement.  

Pensions 

The basic principle is that the pension charge to be recognised for the reporting period is equal to the 
pension contributions payable to the pension fund for that period. Insofar as payable contributions 
have not yet been paid as at balance sheet date, a liability is recognised. If at balance sheet date the 
actual contributions paid exceed the payable contributions, a receivable is recognised to account for 
any repayment by the fund or settlement against contributions payable in future.  

The pension scheme is administered by ABP, the pension fund for employees in the public sector. This 
is an industry-wide pension fund, and Statistics Netherlands is not obliged to make additional 
payments in the event of a deficit at the fund, other than paying in higher future contributions when 
necessary. 

Current liabilities 

The accounting policies for the current liabilities are included under the 'Financial instruments' 
heading.  

Revenue recognition 

Amounts received by Statistics Netherlands for its own account are recognised as revenue. Amounts 
received by Statistics Netherlands on behalf of third parties are not recognised as revenue.  

The contribution from the ministry of Economic Affairs is recognised on the income statement in the 
financial year in which the corresponding (statutory) tasks were performed.  

Revenue from paid contracted work is recognised on the income statement when the amount of the 
revenues can be reliably determined, the collection of the amounts due is probable, the stage of 
completion of the contract as at balance sheet date can be reliably determined, and the costs already 
incurred and the costs that (possibly) still have to be incurred to complete the contract can be reliably 
determined. 

If the result of a particular contract for services cannot be reliably estimated, contract revenues are 
only recognised up to the amount of the costs incurred to provide the services that will be recovered 
through revenues. 

Revenues from paid contracted work are recognised on the income statement as net turnover in 
proportion to the stage of completion of the contract at the reporting date. The stage of completion is 
determined based on the costs incurred up to that date in relation to the estimated costs of 
completing the entire contract.  
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Other operating income is recognised on the income statement after completion of the performed 
work.  

Interest income is recognised in the period to which it relates, based on the effective interest rate for 
the relevant asset item. Any gain or loss is recognised under financial income or expenses. 

Government grants 

Government grants are initially recognised on the balance sheet as deferred income as soon as it is 
reasonably certain that they will be received and that the applicable terms and conditions will be met. 
Grants received as compensation for costs incurred are systematically recognised as revenue on the 
income statement in the period in which the costs are incurred. Grants received as compensation for 
the costs of an asset are systematically recognised on the income statement over the service life of the 
asset. 

Cost recognition 

Costs are recognised on the income statement in the year to which they relate. 

Taxes 

CBS was not liable for corporation tax in 2015. 

CBS was not liable for VAT in 2015, except for income from secondment. 

Cash flow statement 

The cash flow statement has been prepared according to the indirect method. Accordingly, in 
presenting the cash flows, adjustments are made to the reported result for the financial year to 
account for items that do not relate to income and expenses during the financial year and for changes 
in financing, provisions and working capital. 

Related parties 

Transactions with related parties apply when there is a relationship between the Statistics Netherlands 
and a natural person or entity that is related to Statistics Netherlands. This includes relationships 
between Statistics Netherlands and its management officials and key management personnel. 
Transactions include any transfer of resources, services or obligations, irrespective of whether an 
amount was billed. At Statistics Netherlands, transactions with related parties consist solely of the 
remuneration of the (acting) Director-General and the Central Commission for Statistics, which is 
explained in more detail in section 9 of the notes.
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Notes to the balance sheet as at 31 December 2015 

1) Tangible fixed assets 

 

The investments mainly concern the refurbishment of the communications centre and the 
replacement of the IT work stations. 

 
2) Financial fixed assets 

Ministry of Economic Affairs 

The amount receivable from the Ministry of Economic Affairs comprises the following:  

 

Other financial fixed assets 

 

As Statistics Netherlands is exempt from VAT, the lessor of the newly built premises in The Hague and 
Heerlen cannot claim back the VAT on its investments in these buildings. Statistics Netherlands has 
compensated the lessor for the loss of income due to this VAT issue by paying EUR 9.2 million in 
respect of the premises in The Hague and EUR 6.5 million in respect of those in Heerlen. These 
amounts are charged to the result over a period of ten years, which is the maximum period for 
offsetting VAT losses. In 2015, EUR 1.6 million was charged to the result (2014: EUR 1.6 million). 
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Current assets 

3) Receivables  

Debtors 

 

The bad debt provision largely relates to receivables from companies that failed to meet obligations to 
respond and/or on which a judicial and/or administrative penalty has been imposed. 

Other receivables 

 

The 'prepaid expenses' item mostly consist of prepaid maintenance contracts and prepaid rent. The 
item 'contracts yet to be billed' included under receivables concerns the portion of the paid contracted 
work yet to be billed based on the progress of work at year-end. 

In the financial statements for 2014, the item 'contracts yet to be billed' was offset with the 'item 
'turnover billed in advance'. In the financial statements for 2015, in accordance with Dutch Accounting 
Standard (RJ) 115, these items have been presented separately to enhance the view given to users of 
the financial statements. The comparative figures have been adjusted accordingly. 

The other liabilities mostly have maturities of less than one year. 
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4) Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents are presented in the cash flow statement. The bank balance is at 
the free disposal of Statistics Netherlands. 

The deposit account has a term of one year. If required for the performance of Statistics Netherlands' 
public task, the balance can be withdrawn on demand. 

5) Equity 

 

The equalisation reserve comprises the results for the years 2004 to 2014. 
The appropriation of the result for 2014 (withdrawn from the equalisation reserve) is in accordance 
with the agreement made with the Ministry of Economic Affairs. 
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6) Provisions 

 

Provisions for tasking for 2014 and 2015 and provision for restructurings in 2004, 2005 and 2011 

The provision for the restructurings in 2004, 2005 and 2011 and the provision for the tasking for 2014 
and 2015 concern the costs of the redundancy of (former) employees of Statistics Netherlands.  

Unemployment benefits  

This provision concerns obligations under the unemployment compensation benefit scheme for civil 
servants, whereby former employees receive benefits to compensate them for their loss of 
employment.  

The table below shows the expected breakdown for each period of the unemployment benefit 
obligations: 
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Restructuring in 2000  

The provision was made to cover the cost of the termination of the employment of staff who were 
designated as candidates for reposting under the restructuring in 2000, but whose employment was 
not terminated prior to 3 January 2004. The Ministry of Economic Affairs has committed EUR 10.8 
million to cover the employment termination costs. The employment termination costs comprise the 
personnel expenses during the 18-month reposting period and the expected unemployment 
compensation benefits and other benefits payable by Statistics Netherlands.  

The table below shows the expected breakdown for each period of the obligations arising from the 
restructuring started in 2000: 

 

Long-service awards 

This provision concerns future obligations for 12.5, 25 and 40-year service awards.  

Long-term sickness 

This provision concerns future obligations to employees on sick leave whose incapacity for work is 
expected to be permanent and who are therefore entitled to up to two years of continued salary 
payment. 

 

7) Current liabilities 

Taxes and social insurance contributions 
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Other liabilities 

 

The outstanding expenses consist mostly of recurring costs for which the invoice was still to be 
received as at year-end.  

The 'advance contribution from project developer' item concerns one-off contributions received for 
rental costs for the next ten years, one in 2008 for the office in The Hague and the other in 2009 for 
the Heerlen office. 

The turnover billed in advance concerns the billed in advance portion of the paid contracted work and 
the work still to be performed to make changes in the General Business Register (ABR). 

Year-end bonuses concern the amount reserved in December 2015 for the year-end bonuses that will 
be paid in November 2016.  

The other liabilities mostly have maturities of less than one year. 

 

Financial instruments 

As part of its ordinary activities, Statistics Netherlands uses various financial instruments that expose it 
to market, credit and/or liquidity risks. These financial instruments are stated on the balance sheet.  

Statistics Netherlands does not trade in these financial instruments and has procedures and guidelines 
to limit the size of the risks. If a counterparty defaults on payments due to Statistics Netherlands, any 
resulting losses are limited to the fair market value of the relevant instruments. Statistics Netherlands 
does not use derivative financial instruments. 
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Treasury policy 

Under the service income and expenditure scheme, Statistics Netherlands has a duty to participate in 
treasury banking with the Central Accounts Department (Rijkshoofdboekhouding) of the Ministry of 
Finance. This department is responsible for the accounts of the Dutch treasury.  

Treasury banking means that cash items may only be deposited in a current account with the Central 
Accounts Department and that loans may only be concluded with this department. Statistics 
Netherlands concludes the contracts and agrees the conditions with the Central Accounts Department 
in respect of any deposit accounts or loans. 

Treasury banking is a way of maintaining a central treasury for public funds. Treasury banking is based 
on the principle that outflows of public funds from the treasury should be timed to occur only when 
they are needed to perform a public task. Through treasury banking, Statistics Netherlands maintains a 
cash flow policy that is as risk free as possible.  

 

Credit risk 

Statistics Netherlands is exposed to credit risks on the debtors presented on the balance sheet. As the 
debtors mostly concern government institutions, the credit risk exposure is limited. 

 

Liquidity risk 

The entity monitors its liquidity position by means of its multi-annual budget. Management ensures 
that the entity always has sufficient liquidity to meets its obligations. 

 

Market value 

The fair value of the financial instruments stated on the balance sheet, including receivables, cash and 
cash equivalents and current liabilities, approximates their carrying amount. 
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Off-balance sheet assets and liabilities  

Multi-annual financial obligations 

 

Rented premises 
The rental agreement for the office in The Hague has been concluded for a period of 5 to 15 years and 
expires in 2023. The rental agreement for the office in Heerlen has been concluded for a period of 5 to 
15 years and expires in 2024. 

 

Finance agreements 

It has been agreed with the Ministry of Economic Affairs that the financial obligations for the period 
prior to 3 January 2004 are for the account of the Ministry. The actual expenditures made by Statistics 
Netherlands in relation to these obligations are compensated by the Ministry.  

The Ministry of Economic Affairs has provided long-term financing through a credit facility currently 
amounting to EUR 50 million. The aim of the financing is to avoid temporary liquidity shortfalls due to 
the cost of support schemes for employees who have become redundant due to government cuts in 
the civil service workforce, different priorities in gathering statistics, and the future IT budget, and the 
setting of different priorities. If the required amount of credit were to exceed EUR 50 million, Statistics 
Netherlands will have to consult with the Ministry of Economic Affairs and the Ministry of Finance. To 
date, this credit facility has not been used. 

In addition, Statistics Netherlands has a debit limit on the current account overdraft facility with the 
Ministry of Finance of EUR 10 million. 
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Notes to the income statement for 2015 

8) Operating income 

The operating income is the sum of: 
• contribution from the Ministry of Economic Affairs; 
• paid contracted work; 
• other operating income. 

Contribution from Ministry of Economic Affairs 

 

The contribution from the Ministry of Economic Affairs is a budgetary contribution. Statistics 
Netherlands receives this contribution based on the Multi-Annual Plan for 2014-2018. At the end of 
this period, Statistics Netherlands must have achieved the work programme. If in any year part of the 
work programme is not achieved, the relevant funding is carried forward to the next year. 

Paid contracted work 

The following table shows the turnover from paid contracted work per region.  

 

The 'paid contracted work' items accounts for the revenues realised from performed activities. This 
includes contracts to which the government makes a specific financial contribution, as well as 
revenues from the provision of data and turnover from the sale of Blaise licences (a software system 
developed by Statistics Netherlands for computerised research methods) 
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The breakdown of turnover from paid contracted work by type of client is as follows: 

 

Other operating income 

Other operating income mostly consists of revenue from penalty payments and publications. 

 

9) Operating expenses 

Wages and salaries 

 

The cost of wages and salaries was higher than budgeted. This was due to the pay rise under the 
collective agreement, as well as additional paid contracted work for which additional staffing capacity 
was hired.  

The costs of insourced staff were higher than budgeted and higher than in 2014. This was due to 
additional staff insourcing for IT projects. Insourced staff account for 8% of the total personnel costs 
(consisting of wages and salaries, pension charges and social charges), which is within the limit of 10% 
set by the government. 

In 2015, the average number of full-time employees (FTEs) at Statistics Netherlands was 1,780 (2014: 
1,777 FTEs). Five employees work outside of the Netherlands.  

Remuneration of Director-General and Central Commission for Statistics  

In 2015, the remuneration of the Director-General, consisting of the gross salary, fixed allowances, 
social charges and pension charges, totalled EUR 166 thousand.  

The Central Commission for Statistics (CCS) has several duties relating to Statistics Netherlands and 
providing statistical information to the government. In 2015, the CCS had eight members and their 
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compensation for 2015 totalled EUR 82 thousand (EUR 78 thousand in remuneration and EUR 4 
thousand in tax-free expense allowances). In 2014, the CCS had eight members and their 
compensation for the year totalled EUR 93 thousand. The compensation of the CCS is charged to the 
budget of Statistics Netherlands. 

Disclosure pursuant to Act on Remuneration of Senior Officials in the Public and Semi-public Sector 
(WNT). 

In 2015, the maximum remuneration for Statistics Netherlands was EUR 178,000. The applicable WNT 
maximum shown per person or per position is calculated in proportion to the working hours under the 
employment contract (and for senior officials also the period of service), with the working hours never 
exceeding 1.0 FTE for the calculation.  

 

The remuneration of the Director-General is set by the Minister for Economic Affairs based on a 
proposal from the Chair of the CCS.  
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The remuneration of the members of the CCS complies with the regulations on the compensation of 
members of the CCS (Regeling vaststelling schadeloosstelling leden CCS) drawn up by the Minister for 
Economic Affairs in 2005.  

 

Pension and social charges  

The pension charges decreased due to lower pension contributions.  

The pension scheme is administered by ABP, the pension fund for employees in the public sector. This 
is an industry-wide pension fund, and Statistics Netherlands is not obliged to make additional 
payments in the event of a deficit at the fund, other than paying in higher future contributions when 
necessary. As at year-end 2015, ABP had a coverage ratio (market value of plan assets expressed as a 
percentage of the defined benefit obligation pursuant to the principles set by the Dutch central bank) 
of 98.7%.  

In 2015, the pension scheme had the following characteristics: 

Type of pension scheme   Career average scheme 
Holiday pay     8% 
Pensionable age    67 years  
Pension base     Pensionable salary less offset ('franchise') 
Surviving dependants' pension   50% of old-age pension at time of death  
Orphans’ pension    10% of old-age pension  
Offset (2015)     EUR 12,650 
Accrual rate     1.875% of pension base 
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Addition to/release of provisions for 2014/2015 tasking, restructuring provision for 2004 through 
2011 and provision for unemployment benefits 

 

The addition to provisions (totalling EUR 0.7 million) less the release of provisions (totalling EUR 1.2 
million) is recognised under addition to/release from provisions. 

 

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 

 

Depreciation was lower in 2015 because a number of investments were made later in the year than 
originally planned.  

Other operating expenses 

 

Accommodation costs include rental as well as energy costs and building-related costs, such as 
cleaning, security and the operation of the company restaurant. The accommodation costs decreased 
because a section of the premises in Heerlen was disposed of in mid-2014. 

Office costs were lower than budgeted due to a reduction in printing work for publications and due to 
further digitisation.  
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The costs of official journeys decreased due to the reduction in official journeys and the conclusion of 
new, cheaper contract. 

Advisory costs increased due to a number of one-off advisory engagements. 

The 'other' item under operating expenses mostly concerns the costs of raw data for statistical 
analysis. These costs decreased due to lower costs of raw data and other material costs incurred in 
obtaining data. 

The following fees of KPMG Accountants N.V. and other member firms of the KPMG network were 
billed to Statistics Netherlands: 

 

10) Financial income and expenses 

Interest income 

The drop in interest income is the result of a lower interest rate. 
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The Hague/Heerlen, 23 March 2016 

Director-General of Statistics Netherlands 

Dr T.B.P.M. Tjin-A-Tsoi 

 

Central Commission for Statistics 

Ms I. Brakman, chair 
Prof. S. Brakman 
Mr J. van Hall RA RE 
(Ms) Dr C.M. Hooymans  
(Ms) Prof. J. Plantenga 
Prof. F. van der Wel RA 
Ms C.W. Wortmann-Kool 
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Other information 

Proposed result appropriation 

The financial statements for 2015 were prepared prior to the result appropriation. After the addition 
of the result for 2015 of EUR 8.2 million negative, equity will decrease. Additional arrangements were 
made on this with the Ministry of Economic Affairs in 2013.  

Subsequent events 

In the coming years, Statistics Netherlands will have to implement the tasking set by the Rutte II 
administration. Due to previous budget cuts, only a very small part of the Rutte II tasking can be 
implemented through further efficiency improvements. As the statutory EU obligations do not allow 
for flexible austerity measures and the available budget is insufficient, choices will have to be made 
affecting the content of the non-mandatory statistical programme. A reduction of the non-mandatory 
statistics programme will have consequences for all users of the statistical services. This could be 
avoided if alternative financing were to become available. If no alternative financing is secured, 
Statistics Netherlands will be forced to scrap a large part of its non-mandatory programme.  

In terms of the financial situation, there are also uncertainties regarding the coverage of the costs of 
new statistical obligations for which in the past we always received a compensation in accordance with 
the Explanatory Memorandum to the Act on Statistics Netherlands. There are also uncertainties 
regarding the compensation of increased wages and pension contributions. 

The financial impact on potential scenarios is being estimated. However, given the uncertainties 
outlined, it is currently impossible to make authoritative statements about the consequences for 
Statistics Netherlands.  
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Independent auditor’s report  
To: Director-General of  Statistics Netherlands 

Report on the financial statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2015 of Statistics Netherlands, The Hague, 
Heerlen and Bonaire included in this Annual Report. The financial statements comprise the balance 
sheet as at 31 December 2015, the profit and loss account for the year then ended and the notes, 
comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Management’s responsibility 

Management of Statistics Netherlands is, on the basis of the article 70 of the Statistics Netherlands 
Act, responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the stipulations in the Statistics Netherlands Act, the other requirements as agreed between the 
Ministry of Economic Affairs, Statistics Netherlands and CCS on March 16, 2006 and the ‘Wet 
normering bezoldiging topfunctionarissen publieke en semipublieke sector (WNT)’. Management is 
furthermore responsible for the financial lawfulness of the income, expenditure and balance sheet 
movements as presented in the financial statements. This means that the amounts comply with the 
provisions of the relevant legislation and regulations, as included in the Statistics Netherlands auditing 
protocol of 20 January 2009. Furthermore, management is responsible for such internal control as it 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit, as 
stipulated in article 35, paragraph 2 of the ‘Kaderwet Zelfstandige Bestuursorganen’. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing and in accordance 
with the Statistics Netherlands auditing protocol of 20 January 2009 and the WNT auditing protocol. 
This requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, as well as in the framework of financial 
lawfulness for the compliance with those relevant legislation and regulations, in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the  internal control of Statistics Netherlands. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used, the criteria used for financial lawfulness and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management of Statistics Netherlands, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Statistics 
Netherlands as at 31 December 2015 and of its result for the year then ended in accordance with the 
Statistics Netherlands Act, the other requirements as agreed between the Ministry of Economic 
Affairs, Statistics Netherlands and CCS on March 16, 2006 and the WNT. 
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Furthermore, in our opinion, the income, expenditure and balance sheet movements that occurred in 
2015 and are accounted for in these financial statements satisfy the requirements of financial 
lawfulness. This means that the amounts comply with the provisions of the relevant legislation and 
regulations, as included in the Statistics Netherlands auditing protocol of 20 January 2009. 
 
The Hague, 31 March 2016  
KPMG Accountants N.V. 
 

W.A. Touw RA 
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6 Central Commission for Statistics 
The Central Commission for Statistics (CCS) assesses and adopts Statistics Netherlands’ Multi-annual 
Programme and Annual Plan. In practice these duties involve assessing the internal consistency and 
relevance of the programme-based intentions for the coming period in relation to the public need and 
the financial and organisational frameworks. The CCS is involved in drawing up Statistics Netherlands’ 
budget and financial statements, which are adopted by the Director-General in consultation with the 
CCS. The Director-General also submits the Annual Report of Statistics Netherlands to the CCS for 
approval.  

The CCS supervises Statistics Netherlands with a view to reducing the administrative burden, avoiding 
unfair competition and supplying microdata. The CCS promotes the coordination and quality of 
statistical information provided by central government. The CCS also safeguards Statistics Netherlands’ 
independent position and the professional independence of official statistics. 

The Audit Committee (AC) of the CCS prepares the discussion of management issues. The AC concerns 
itself in particular with the review of internal financial reports, the budget and the financial 
statements. The CCS produces its own annual report for the Minister of Economic Affairs to account 
for the performance of its duties. The report is posted on the Statistics Netherlands website.  

At the start of 2016, the members of the CCS were: 
Inge Brakman, chair (AC member) 
Tini Hooymans 
Janneke Plantenga 
Steven Brakman 
Frans van der Wel (chair of the AC) 
Johan van Hall (AC member) 
Corien Wortmann-Kool  

Government-wide research was undertaken in 2012/13 on repositioning all autonomous 
administrative bodies as part of the Civil Service Reform Agenda. The cabinet concluded that it was not 
necessary for Statistics Netherlands to have one autonomous administrative body (CCS) supervising 
the other (Statistics Netherlands DG). Consequently, at the end of 2013, the government decided that 
these two bodies must be reduced to one: the Statistics Netherlands DG will remain as an autonomous 
administrative body and the CCS will cease to be an autonomous administrative body and its duties 
will be repositioned. These proposals have been incorporated in a Bill to amend the Statistics 
Netherlands Act. The Bill was submitted to the cabinet and the Council of State then issued its advice 
during 2015. At the end of 2015, the Bill was tabled for debate by the House of Representatives. 

The principles in the Bill are to ensure the independent production and reliability of statistics. Statistics 
Netherlands DG will continue as an autonomous administrative body, maintaining the single-member 
management and legal personality of Statistics Netherlands. As an additional guarantee for the 
independent production of statistics compared with the existing guarantees of independence in the 
Autonomous Administrative Authorities Framework Act and the Statistics Netherlands Act, the Bill 
states that the five-year evaluation under the Autonomous Administrative Authorities Framework Act 
that focuses on the effectiveness and efficiency of Statistics Netherlands will be expanded: the report 
will include an evaluation of the independence of Statistics Netherlands. The Explanatory 
Memorandum states that it is desirable that the DG Statistics Netherlands sets up an advisory council 
to act as a sounding board for the content of the non-mandatory statistical programme. 

In 2014, the CCS presented its views on the repositioning in a letter to the Ministry of Economic 
Affairs, which, on request, was also sent to the Economic Affairs standing committee. Despite the fact 
that the system operates well (as shown by the government’s response to the evaluation of Statistics 
Netherlands in 2012), the CCS understands that two autonomous administrative bodies for one 
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institution have to be reduced to one and that, as a result, it has been proposed that the autonomous 
administrative body status of the CCS should end. Statistics Netherlands will be led by the Director-
General, who has final responsibility for the functioning of the institute. The CCS thinks it is important 
that the Statistics Netherlands Director-General continues as an autonomous administrative body. This 
is in line with European developments where the significance of sound and independent structures for 
the provision of statistics is on the agenda. The CCS believes it is important that the independence of 
statistics is properly guaranteed in the legislation. The CCS is of the opinion that an outside view is 
desirable in three areas for the proper functioning of Statistics Netherlands. Firstly, establishing the 
statistical programme. The bulk of the statistics that Statistics Netherlands produces are mandatory 
under European law. The influence of the CCS is, therefore, mainly on agreeing the non-mandatory 
statistics, which the CCS considers expressly in a social context. It would also be useful to involve the 
CCS in policy on the combination of data collection, privacy and ICT. And thirdly, sound internal 
governance must be considered with both operations and the efficient use of resources. The CCS 
believes there should be a legal basis for this governance appropriate to Statistics Netherlands, 
specifically because of its wide range of duties for all parts of society. In addition, the current 
regulations also give the CCS the right to nominate the DG, who is appointed by the Minister, and the 
CCS also sees this as appropriate given the desired independent status of the DG. 

 

Statement of the Central Commission for Statistics 

The Central Commission for Statistics has taken cognisance of the 2015 Annual Report and financial 
statements of Statistics Netherlands. Based on its authority laid down in the Statistics Netherlands Act 
of 2003, it hereby approves the 2015 Annual Report of Statistics Netherlands. Further, based on that 
authority, it consents to the adoption of the financial statements of Statistics Netherlands for 2015 by 
the Director-General of Statistics Netherlands. 

The Hague, 23 March 2016 

 

I. Brakman, chair     M.I. Tóth Pál, secretary 
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Appendix A: Actual output  

 

Output 2015
Nieuws- 
berichten

Statline-tabellen Publicaties Eurostat-
leveringen

Microdata-
bestanden

Inlichtingen (infoservice)

 w.v. nieuw papier elektronisch data- 
bestanden

telefonisch     
(incl.ant-
woordap.)

email (incl. 
brieven en 
faxen)

Twitter

Thema aantal

Arbeid en sociale zekerheid 145 485 48 21 83 387 1389 1562 124
Bedrijven 20 161 9 3 2 33 27 505 545 13
Bevolking 7 265 9 23 7 24 742 913 51
Bouwen en wonen 21 217 4 32 16 132 220 25
Financiële en zakelijke diensten 4 70 4 14 27 61 1
Gezondheid en welzijn 29 153 24 1 19 9 45 372 432 42
Handel en horeca 38 63 1 1 22 123 180 7
Industrie en energie 39 370 9 1 136 1 89 194 11
Inkomen en bestedingen 6 77 3 1 5 35 357 543 39
Internationale handel 37 164 1 49 244 322 17
Landbouw 16 81 6 74 87 170 14
Macro-economie 48 276 20 2 15 95 141 371 8
Natuur en milieu 12 49 1 5 8 58 132 11
Onderwijs 8 151 18 5 9 60 138 180 11
Overheid en politiek 14 82 5 2 85 124 12
Prijzen 29 104 2 92 3 5576 916 27
Veiligheid en recht 32 87 11 6 96 4 186 255 30
Verkeer en vervoer 23 129 12 10 6 109 6 114 220 4
Vrije tijd en cultuur 28 146 4 4 34 2 211 270 25

Allochtonen 185 125 9
Caribisch Nederland 36 8 1 1
Conjunctuur  43
Emancipatie
Europese Unie  1 158 183 2
Globalisering
Historische reeksen 3 3
Levensloop
Nederland regionaal  3 55 6 3 4 380 736 7
Ondernemingsklimaat
Vergrijzing
Volkstelling
Overige  10 211 1 2 91  2 10 1661 592 66

Totaal 613 3435 207 23 208 909 620 12960 9246 556
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Appendix B: Advisory Boards 

Six advisory boards, each with a specific theme or subject, have been established to provide Statistics 
Netherlands with advice on the implementation of its statistical programme. The chairs of these 
advisory boards jointly form an advisory council for the Director-General, the Statistics Netherlands 
Advisory Council. 

 
Members of the Statistics Netherlands Advisory Council on 31 December 2015: 
Tjark Tjin-A-Tsoi - chair  
Monique Tóth Pál - secretary 
Michaël van Straalen - Business Respondents’ Advisory Board 
Eduard van de Lustgraaf - Economic Statistics Advisory Board 
Pim Claassen - Macroeconomic Statistics Advisory Board 
Peter van der Heijden - Methodology and Quality Advisory Board  
Han Entzinger - Social Statistics Advisory Board 
Peter Boelhouwer - Statistics of the Living Environment Advisory Board 
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Appendix C: Organisation (31 December 2015) 
 

Director-General 
Tjark Tjin-A-Tsoi 

Deputy Director-General 
Bert Kroese  

Central bureau for policy and management support 
Cecile Schut 

Methods and statistical policy 
Kees Zeelenberg  

Chief Information Officer 
Matjaz Jug 

Blaise 
Harry Wijnhoven (acting) 

CBS Communication and News  
Mike Ackermans  

Corporate services, IT and methodology 

Wim van Nunspeet  
Marijke Renaud (deputy) 

Data collection 
Astrid Boeijen 
Jeroen van Velzen (deputy) 

Economic and business statistics and national accounts 
Hanneke Imbens  
Hank Hermans (deputy) 

 
Socio-economic and spatial statistics 

Dr Huib van de Stadt 
Marleen Verbruggen (deputy)  
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Appendix D: Guide 

Statistics Netherlands collects data from persons, enterprises and institutions and publishes the results 
of its studies using various methods at the earliest opportunity. 

Statistics Netherlands website (www.cbs.nl)

The current website provides access to the output of Statistics Netherlands research, together with 
information and key figures about the Netherlands, organised by theme. All the publications are laid 
out clearly on the website and detailed figures are published in a free databank, StatLine. The website 
also has an up-to-date publication calendar and product catalogue.  

Statistics Netherlands also offers websites for four target groups: www.werkenbijhetcbs.nl;
www.cbsinuwbuurt.nl; www.cbsvooruwbedrijf.nl and www.cbs.nl/cbsindeklas.

An updated Statistics Netherlands website will be launched in 2016. Topical items will be highlighted 
more prominently and content will be presented more attractively with visuals. The new website will 
be suitable for all devices so that the content is easily accessible on PCs, smartphones and tablets. 

New media 

In recent years, Statistics Netherlands has also distributed its output on YouTube 
(http://www.youtube.com/statistiekcbs), Twitter (http://www.twitter.com/statistiekcbs) and 
Facebook (facebook.com/statistiekcbs). Since 2014, Statistics Netherlands has provided all tables in 
StatLine as open data in the form of datasets (http://opendata.cbs.nl/dataportaal/portal.html#_la=nl). 
There is also a web app that uses open data and which can display all tables in StatLine as graphs or 
maps (http://opendata.cbs.nl/dataportaal/index.html). This app has been optimised for tablets. 

The Statistics Netherlands Corporate News web app (http://www.cbs.nl/nl-
NL/menu/organisatie/corporate-informatie/cbs-corporate-el.htm) was launched in 2015 offering 
topical news items, including new services and products, international developments and events at 
Statistics Netherlands. It is the digital successor to Statistics Netherlands’ paper magazine and aimed at 
the external contacts. The app has been developed specially for use on tablets, smartphones and 
desktops. It is simple to filter and review the articles and they can be shared easily on Facebook, 
Twitter and LinkedIn. 

Sales of Statistics Netherlands products 

Statistics Netherlands products can be ordered through the Customer Service Department, P.O. Box 
4481, 6401 CZ Heerlen, The Netherlands, by telephone on +31 (88) 570 70 70, or by e-mail at 
verkoop@cbs.nl.

Information service 

The central information desk for general questions about Statistics Netherlands and its products can 
be contacted by telephone on +31 (88) 570 70 70, or by e-mail at infoservice@cbs.nl.

European Statistical Data Support  

Statistical information about Europe sourced from Eurostat can be requested by telephone on +31 (88) 
570 70 70 (option 5), or by e-mail at infoservice@cbs.nl.
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Statistics Netherlands Contact Center 

Companies, institutions and the public can contact this central information desk with any questions 
about Statistics Netherlands questionnaires or other survey material by telephone on +31 (45) 570 64 
00, by e-mail at contactcenter@cbs.nl, or by using the contact form on the Statistics Netherlands 
website www.cbs.nl/contactcenter.

Press office 

The central information desk for the media can be contacted by telephone on +31 (70) 337 44 44, or 
by e-mail at persdienst@cbs.nl. There is more information on the Statistics Netherlands website: 
www.cbs.nl/informatie voor/pers.

Research subject to conditions: Centre for Policy-related Statistics 

The Centre for Policy-related Statistics provides a variety of services: 
• CustomisedCustomised research based on existing data. 
• Advising customers such as ministries and public policy and research institutes, large 

municipalities and other government agencies, on finding, organising and using information 
required for policy formulation and evaluation. 

• Subject to authoritisation by the Director General, providing microdatasets to researchers to 
perform their own analyses under strict security conditions (catalogue http://www.cbs.nl/nl-
NL/menu/informatie/beleid/catalogi). 

The Centre for Policy-related Statistics charges for its services. More information can be obtained by 
telephone on +31 (70) 337 47 92, on the website at www.cbs.nl/cvb, or by e-mail at cvb@cbs.nl.


